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YEARS OF CIMERWA PLC

CIMERWA Plc’s journey is one that started over 37 
years ago with the mission to become the leading 
cement manufacturer in the region. As a company, 
CIMERWA has always believed in taking the com-
munities it operates in along on its growth journey. 
This belief saw the birth of the STRENGTHENING 
RWANDA agenda that is now intrinsically tied to 
everything the company stands for.

Strengthening Rwanda transcended a mere slo-
gan and took on a life of its own through five core 
pillars; Strengthening Education, 

Strengthening Health, Strengthening Entrepre-
neurship, Strengthening Infrastructure & Strength-
ening Environmental Protection. These five pillars 
now have several community-centric initiatives 
under their umbrella, most of which can be found 
in the Western province of the country in Rusizi, 
Bugarama where CIMERWA Plc’s production 
plant is located.

Our Strengthening Rwanda Mission & Vision Statements

•	 It is the strength of our name and our promise to our customers, stakeholders, staff and commu-
nities.

•	 It is the strength of our guarantee. The integrity placed behind every purchase, every interaction; 
the knowledge that when you buy CIMERWA Cement, you too place your trust in our name & word.

•	 It is the strength to care for our environment, ensuring we minimize the impact we have on the 
future sustainability of our planet by adhering to environmental best practices in our facilities and 
through our products.

•	 It is the strength of our ability to foster growth and purposeful partnerships. Partnerships that will 
push us to incessantly seek to be a force for good with the world around us, continually impacting 
the lives of the people we serve in a tangible and meaningful way.

Our Story

 INTRODUCTION 
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The 2021 Financial Year presented many busi-
nesses with a foothold back into success, opera-
tional logistics are no longer in flux and the world 
is more resilient and poised for growth. 

At CIMERWA Plc, employees led by a competent 
management team weathered perhaps two of 
the toughest years in the company’s history with 
grace. 

On behalf of the board, I’d like to extend a word 
of appreciation to everyone.

“As we close yet another successful 
year for CIMERWA Plc, I am delighted 
to present you with the 2021 Financial 
Report”

Regis A. Rugemanshuro

CHAIRMAN STATEMENT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2021

Our board has seen some interesting additions. Our new 
team members are sure to help us deliver on our mission 
to make CIMERWA Plc the leading producer and supplier 
of quality cement and related products in the Great Lakes 
regions while maximizing Stakeholder value.

On (date of appointment), the CIMERWA Plc board ap-
pointed three new members to the team including Stern-
ford Moyo - a senior partner at Scanlen and Holderness 
who brings with him a wealth of experience that spans 4 
decades, Florida Kabasinga – Managing Partner at Certa 
Law Chambers and a prolific litigator, mediator & arbitror 
and last but not least, Anita D. Umuhire – a chartered ac-
countant with over 15 years of experience and the Deputy 
Managing Director of Inyange Industries and its subsidiar-
ies. I would like to welcome our new members aboard the 
CIMERWA ship and I look forward to working with them 
this coming year.

2020 VS. 2021

As we close this successful year, we can not help but look 
back at 2020 and compare it with 2021.

Businesses faced one of the toughest years of their exis-
tence, some were closed permanently while others had to 
rethink and re-invent a working structure befitting the new 
normal.

In contrast, businesses in 2021 are more seasoned and 
ready for challenges. CIMERWA Plc’s performance this 
year is a statement to that. 

BUILDING STRONG FOUNDATIONS FOR
A STRONGER FUTURE

As a board, growing CIMERWA Plc into a sustainable and 
profitable business is our call and it is near and dear to our 
hearts. 

‘Strengthening Rwanda’ is a brand promise, CIMERWA Plc 
reflects through the production of cement imbued with 
quality and durability but most importantly our brand 
promise shines through our work with the communities we 
operate in.

As a business, CIMERWA Plc is about building – building 
strongly and durably. This understanding buoyed our ef-
forts to make the company a more environmentally con-
scious organization through strategies meant to reduce 
our carbon footprint. Climate change is real and it’s hap-
pening now, we all have a role to play to ensure we leave 
this earth to the next generation in one piece.

NOTE OF APPRECIATION

I take this opportunity to thank our customers, stakehold-
ers, shareholders and employees for their trust and sup-
port.

As we step into 2022, we commit to serve you to the best 
of our ability and steer this ship towards even greater suc-
cess.

____________
Regis A. Rugemanshuro
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On behalf of the Board of Directors and Management of CI-
MERWA PLC, it is an honor to introduce our Financial Year 
2021 integrated report. The business has achieved excep-
tional financial performance despite the challenging oper-
ating environment during the period. I would like to extend 
our appreciation to the CIMERWA Management and staff 
for their commitment in ensuring that the business is able 
to deliver such strong results under difficult circumstances, 
including COVID-19 restrictions during the year.

Corporate Governance Overview

Following the successful listing of 49% of the company’s 
shareholding on the Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE) on 
03rd August 2020, the Board composition was reconsti-
tuted in line with the corporate governance code and list-
ing guidelines. The Board was reconstituted to on-board 
independent, executive and non-executive directors. In 
this regard, I would like to thank the retiring directors for 
their dedicated service to CIMERWA and to also welcome 
the new directors to the Board. Our Board is now well bal-
anced, much more diverse and with deeply experienced 
Directors with skills from various disciplines.

Safety, Health, Environmental (SHE) and CSR

The year continued to face challenges related to the on-
going COVID-19 pandemic. It is pleasing to note that Man-
agement put in place measures to prioritize the health of 
employees, partners and community while also instituting 
actions to mitigate against business disruption. Close to 
100% of our staff are now fully vaccinated.
The business has continued to implement its SHE improve-
ment plan which has borne fruits as shown by the Compa-
ny’s NIL Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) for the 
year 2021 and compliance with requirements relating to 
the environment. 
Reduction of carbon footprint in the production process 
remains at the top of our priority list. In this regard, numer-
ous actions are ongoing including pushing for increased 
coal substitution rate (>10% achieved) and further process 
/ production innovation to reduce the CO2 per ton of ce-
ment produced.
It is also pleasing to see the close engagement and col-
laboration with the community and other stakeholders to 
align and resolve common challenges. The Company con-
tinues to be a responsible player in the society with sup-
port to various initiatives and pillars including Education, 
Health & sanitation, sports, and small business. 

2021 financial performance 

Despite the changing competitive landscape, the company 
was able to record strong performance across all key fi-
nancial metrics such as Revenue (+7% year-on-year); Gross 
Profit Margin 26% (2020: 21%); Profit Before Tax increase 
by +179% to Rwf 5.4bn in 2021 (2020: Rwf 1.9bn). 
This good performance achieved despite the challenging 

business environment allowed the Company to maintain a 
healthy liquidity position with cash of Rwf 14.3bn (2020: 
Rwf 13.3bn). The Company fundamentals remain strong as 
the Company continues to meet its debt obligation on the 
existing financing facility which is expected to mature in 
2024.   

Looking ahead 

I am proud of our achievements over the past year despite 
the significant challenges that we faced. Considering the 
projected strong macro-economic recovery as the coun-
try turns the corner on COVID with the resumption of key 
infrastructure projects, we are confident that the business 
will continue to grow and achieve even better financial re-
sults in 2022.

Building strong foundations for a strong future

As a board, growing CIMERWA Plc into a sustainable and 
profitable business is our call and it is near and dear to our 
hearts.

‘Strengthening Rwanda’ is a brand promise, CIMERWA Plc 
reflects through the production of cement imbued with 
quality and durability but most importantly our brand 
promise shines through our work with the communities we 
operate in.

As a business, CIMERWA Plc is about building – building 
strongly and durably. This understanding buoyed our ef-
forts to make the company a more environmentally con-
scious organization through strategies meant to reduce 
our carbon footprint. Climate change is real and it’s hap-
pening now, we all have a role to play to ensure we leave 
this earth to the next generation in one piece.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our stake-
holders for their support. I would also like to thank our cus-
tomers for their continued loyalty as well as our sharehold-
ers, business partners and suppliers for standing firmly by 
our side. To Management and all staff, thank you for your 
commitment.

Finally, I would also like to appreciate the Government of 
Rwanda for supporting the manufacturing sector during 
the difficult period of Covid-19. Initiatives such as “Manu-
facture-Build-To-Recover’’ program have been instrumen-
tal in ensuring that disruption of the construction industry 
activities was minimized and quick recovery achieved. 

Mr. Regis Rugemanshuro
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The year 2021 was marked with renewed hope 
in contrast to 2020. Businesses were affected by 
the socio-economic impact of the COVID-19 pan-
demic however the upside of this is that they are 
now on the mend. 

CIMERWA Plc stepped into the new year armed 
with knowledge and lessons learned from the 
previous year and this has helped the company 
stay the course of sustainable growth for both its 
shareholders and stakeholders.

“ Our performance in 2021 is a herald 
of more successful years to come, this 
statement and the confidence behind 
it are inspired by the hard work and 
dedication of our employees. They em-
body our brand promise – Strengthen-
ing Rwanda and their work reflects that 
each and every year.”

Albert K. Sigei

CEO STATEMENT
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The year 2021 presented a uniquely challeng-
ing operating environment due to the impact 
of COVID-19 pandemic and consequent impact 
on our markets and supply chain. We waded 
through the challenges with focus and determi-
nation leading to us posting good operational 
and financial performance.
I would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation 
to the CIMERWA Plc Executive Committee, staff 
and stakeholders for the strong input and sup-
port which made the strong performance possi-
ble. 

“ Our performance in 2021 is a herald 
of more successful years to come, this 
statement and the confidence behind 
it are inspired by the hard work and 
dedication of our employees. They em-
body our brand promise – Strengthen-
ing Rwanda and their work reflects that 
each and every year.”

Albert K. Sigei

CEO’S STATEMENT
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2021 IN REVIEW

I am proud to be at the helm of an organization that is not 
only building the communities it operates in but is an inte-
gral part of them.

CIMERWA Plc’s community-centric activities are focused 
on activating five key economic pillars that will drive sus-
tainable development in the long-term – health, education, 
entrepreneurship, infrastructure & Tourism. These initia-
tives have helped change the lives of the residents in the 
Bugarama sector considerably.

Of course, when speaking of sustainability, we cannot ig-
nore one of the biggest challenges the world is currently 
facing – climate change. As a company, CIMERWA Plc has 
taken considerable steps towards reducing its carbon foot-
print. With a steady rise in the use of alternative fuels in 
its production processes and a product innovative strategy 
aimed at reducing the amount of CO2 per ton in its prod-
ucts, CIMERWA Plc is doing its part in combatting climate 
change

A LOOK AT OUR NEXT FINANCIAL YEAR

Our performance in 2021 is a herald of more successful 
years to come, this statement and the confidence behind 
it are inspired by the hard work and dedication of our em-
ployees. They embody our brand promise – Strengthening 
Rwanda and their work reflects that each and every year.
At its core, CIMERWA Plc’s brand promise truly captures 
the company’s unending commitment to being a part of 
Rwanda’s growth story as can be seen through its 37-year-
old heritage.

IN CONCLUSION

I’d like to close this statement by expressing heartfelt thanks 
to our customers for their loyalty towards our SIMANYAR-
WANDA brand and our stakeholders & shareholders for the 
support they’ve manifested towards CIMERWA Plc. 

I also want to share my gratitude with our employees for 
their commitment, resourcefulness and hard-work. They 
are the driving force behind our business and its continued 
success.

____________
Albert K. Sigei
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COVID-19 Update

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, CIMERWA Plc took nu-
merous stringent measures to protect its employees, cus-
tomers, suppliers, the community and other partners. This 
included strict implementation of preventive measures at 
our sites, awareness campaigns, intense engagement with 
health institutions, partnering with the local and national 
authorities, executing a voluntary monthly COVID-19 mass 
testing program in the company, voluntary vaccination, es-
tablishment of isolation facilities on-site and offering sup-
port to the local authorities / Community including joint 
awareness campaigns. This allowed us to exit the fiscal 
year with 99.9% fully vaccinated employees and a big num-
ber of contractors and partners vaccinated with our sup-
port. All employees that contracted COVID-19 recovered 
well and are back to work.

I would like to appreciate the invaluable support received 
from the Government of Rwanda in the battle against 
COVID-19 during the year. We worked closely with all rele-
vant institutions including the Rwanda Biomedical Centre 
(RBC), Rusizi district, the Ministry of Health and the Private 
Sector Federation.

Key developments

In spite of COVID-19 related lockdown and restrictions, 
we managed to achieve important milestones on various 
fronts including: 

•	 Further improvement to our governance environment. 
This includes successful Board composition reconsti-
tution and a refresh of various Board governance in-
struments following the successful listing of 49% of 
the company’s shareholding on the Rwanda Stock Ex-
change (RSE) in August 2020. Our board is now more 
balanced with diverse, deeply experienced Directors 
with skills from various disciplines.

 
•	 A continued focus on Governance and control environ-

ment improvement. This includes execution of a rigor-
ous new policies and procedures rollout roadmap and 
and strengthening our internal control function. This 
included refresh of key policies such as Delegation of 
Authority, Procurement policy, Combined Assurance 
policy, Risk Management Framework, Code of Con-
duct & Business Ethics policy, Performance Manage-
ment policy and more. 

 
•	 Our new organizational blueprint is now fully rolled out 

with critical positions filled. This includes key positions 
such as Head Legal and Company Secretary, Compli-
ance Specialist, Marketing & Communications Manag-
er, and other numerous positions in middle manage-
ment. The bench strength is now more solid giving 
us higher capacity to move faster in execution of our 
strategic plan.

•	 Major focus was placed on addressing operational bot-
tlenecks in the factory to unlock plant potential. The 
annual Kiln maintenance was successfully executed 
with key tasks concluded such as Kiln seal installation 
to improved energy consumption, new Transformer 
to assist with issues of power fluctuation, overhaul of 
limestone crusher to assist with production and par-
ticle size distribution and installation of Thrust Roller 
and Raw mill tri-union to improve plant reliability. 

•	 These plant capacity debottlenecking and reliability 
improvement actions helped to increased Raw Mill and 
Kiln reliability hence. realization of an 8% increase in 
clinker production, achievement of our target market 
share (est.) and the market satisfied well. We achieved 
the highest clinker production on record since com-
missioning in 20215 with 37Kt produced in September 
2021. 

•	 Implementation of critical Information technology sys-
tems to strengthen our journey to Simplify, Standard-
ize and Automate processes. This includes rollout of 
SAP ECC ERP system to replace SAP B1, Human Re-
source Pay space system for payroll and Oracle Fusion 
system for performance management.

•	 We continued to implement various Corporate Social 
Investment by not only protecting the environment we 
operate in but also contributing to Heath, Education, 
Sports and economic developmental activities with 
353M Rfw spent in 2021.  We continue to support our 
L’educateur school which benefits more than 700 pu-
pils, Water Treatment Plant serving 6 villages around 
our Plant and a Clinic that serves both staff and the 
community.

Health & Safety

We achieved a good safety performance during the year 
with no fatality, 0 Lost Time Injury (LTI) and a cumulative 
>2million hours of work without an LTI.
The Company was recertified for ISO 9001: 2015 for Quality 
Management System. As a strategic management decision, 
the Company decided to go for ISO 9001:2015(QMS), ISO 
14001:15 (EMS) & ISO 45001:2018(OHS) integration. Good 
progress has been made on this transition on which we are 
at the final stage. 
We also continued with various measures to protect our 
environment such as planting 16,400 trees, reduction of 
Co2 via reduced clinker factor, enhancing of dust emission 
controls and installation of environmental indicators mon-
itoring equipment. 
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The Company is working very closely with the Rwanda 
environmental Management Authority (REMA), the com-
munity and other stakeholders to ensure that there is full 
alignment on our actions to minimize any adverse impact 
of our operations on the environment and society. This in-
cludes periodic engagements and reporting progress on 
key environmental indicators. 

Finally, we continue to focus on improvement of our Health 
& Safety Management Systems through various risk miti-
gation actions. 

We also trained our customer drivers on road safety as part 
of an effort to curb road incidents. 

Financial Performance

Sales revenue grew by 6.8% year-on-year to Rwf 67.4 Bil-
lion in spite of the difficult operating environment. This can 
be attributed to the strong COVID-19 crisis management 
response by the team to sustain operations, helped by ce-
ment demand from large infrastructure projects, effective 
management of route to market channels, robust actions 
to grow exports as well as better price management. Our 
export volumes grew by +37% versus prior year with the 
proportion of exports in our sales mix rising to 19% (15% in 
2020). 
We achieved an operating Profit of Rwf 11.2 Billion (+40% 
versus prior year) and Profit After Tax was Rwf 4.1 Billion 
(+111% versus prior year). The excellent improvement in 
profitability was enabled by the topline growth, improved 
operational efficiencies and our cost savings program. Im-
proved operational efficiencies and cost savings program 
helped us to contain cost of sales which saw a marginal 
growth of only +0.1% in spite of the 6.8% growth in reve-
nues.

The Company closed the year with a healthy cash position 
of Rwf 14.2 Billion and a much heathier retained earnings 
position of Rwf 4.2 Billion (Rwf 166 M in 2020).

Looking ahead

The reporting period has been challenging but we are 
thrilled with our progress as CIMERWA remains a strong 
brand in Rwanda recognized for its superior quality and 
service. Our balance sheet is much stronger with low lever-
age and solid reserves and cash position. We continue to 
focus on addressing operational bottlenecks to ensure 
that our full volume capacity is unlocked. Macro-economic 
projections indicate that Rwanda GDP growth will bounce 
back to the range of 6% - 7% going forward after the 
COVID-related dip in the previous year. Overall, looking at 
the projects in pipeline and the economic outlook we are 
optimistic that the business will continue growing and de-
liver more value to our shareholders as Rwanda increases 
its cement consumption from the current ~60kg per capita.

Appreciation

I offer my heartfelt appreciation to the Board members, 
the Executive Committee and team CIMERWA for their re-
lentless commitment, energy and focus during the review 
period. I also thank our bankers, customers, suppliers and 
stakeholders for their continued trust in our brand. We 
could not have done it without your unwavering support. 

Murakoze Cyane!

Albert K. Sigei
Chief Executive Officer 



1010

Corporate information

Company Secretary Auditor

GODFREY KAMUKUNDE

CIMERWA Plc 
P.O. Box 644 Kigali/Rwanda

Tel: (250) 788 302 021
Email: godfrey.kamukunde@cimerwa.rw

PricewaterhouseCoopers Rwanda Ltd

5th Floor, Blue Star House Blvd 
de l’Umuganda, Kacyiru,
P.O. Box 1495, Kigali Rwanda

Tel: +250 (252) 588 203/4/5/6
Fax: : +250 (252) 588 201/2

Company Executive Position

Mr. Albert Sigei Chief Executive Officer

Registered Office & Principal Place of Business Financial Calendar Shareholders

Registered Office Address: 
Kimihurura, Gasabo, Umujyi wa Kigali, 
Rwanda
 
Tel: (250) 788 381 134
Email: cimerwa@cimerwa.rw

Principal Place of Business:
Western Province/ Rusizi District 
P.O. Box 21
Rusizi-Rwanda
P.O. Box 644
Kigali-Rwanda

Year end: 30 September 

Half year: 31 March

Pretoria Portland Cement Limited

AGDF Corporate Trust Limited

Rwanda Social Security Board

Rwanda Investment Group

Sonarwa Holdings Ltd 

Other retail investors

Principal Bankers

Bank of Kigali Plc
P.O. Box 175 Kigali – Rwanda
KN 4 Ave
Kigali/ Rwanda, No12 Plot No 790
info@bk.rw
(250) 788 143000

BPR Atlas Mara Plc
P.O.Box  1348 Kigali – Rwanda, KN 67,Street 2
info@bpr.rw
(250) 788 187200

Cogebanque Plc
P.O. Box 5230 Kigali- Rwanda, KN 63 Street
info@cogebanque.rw
(250) 788 155500
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2. Report of the Executive 

Board of Directors Director General of the Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB). Prior to 
that he was the Chief Digital Officer (CDO) at the Bank of Kigali Plc, 
leading the digital transformation of the bank. Before that, Mr. Ruge-
manshuro was the first Chief Executive Officer of BK TecHouse Ltd, the 
Tech subsidiary of Bank of Kigali Group Plc where his work in the two 
years he spent there earned him the 2018 All Africa Business Leaders 
Award (AABLA) as Finalist for East Africa Innovator of the Year. Un-
der his leadership, BK TecHouse was voted and awarded the 2017 Best 
Technology Company in Rwanda by the Smart Service Awards. Prior to 
joining BK Group Plc, Mr. Rugemanshuro spent his career in the United 
States consulting for the global Tech giants such as Hewlett Packard 
(HP) as a Program Manager and later with Accenture PLC in Seattle, 
Washington. During his time there, his main clients included Microsoft 
and T-Mobile.

His area of focus is at the intersection of Business and Technology; his 
expertise is in helping organizations realize the promise of the digital 
revolution via adoption of modern engineering platforms and practices. 
He is a servant leader known for his high energy and contagious passion 
to solving complex problems.

He is also a Certified Project Management Professional (PMP) by the 
Global Project Management Institute (PMI) as well as a Certified SAFE 
Program Consultant (SPC4) by the Global Scaled Agile Academy. He 
has a bachelor’s degree in science information technologies and an 
MBA in Management both from Misericordia University in Pennsylvania.

Mrs. Chrissie Moloseni is a result oriented professional with high busi-
ness acumen and hands on experience with over 20 years progressive 
experience in Finance and Operations Management with track record of 
delivering performance.

Expertise in General Management, Strategic Planning,Accounting and 
Finance Management Budgeting and Forecasting, Cost and Perfor-
mance Management, Corporate Finance and Investment Analysis.

Regis Rugemanshuro 
Board Chairman

Chrissie Moloseni  
Vice Chairperson
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BOARD AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

Board Members
Mr. Regis Rugemanshuro, PMP, SPC 4, current Director General of the 
Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB). Prior to that he was the Chief 
Digital Officer (CDO) at the Bank of Kigali Plc, leading the digital trans-
formation of the bank. Before that, Mr. Rugemanshuro was the first Chief 
Executive Officer of BK TecHouse Ltd, the Tech subsidiary of Bank of 
Kigali Group Plc where his work in the two years he spent there earned 
him the 2018 All Africa Business Leaders Award (AABLA) as Finalist for 
East Africa Innovator of the Year. Under his leadership, BK TecHouse 
was voted and awarded the 2017 Best Technology Company in Rwanda 
by the Smart Service Awards. Prior to joining BK Group Plc, Mr. Ruge-
manshuro spent his career in the United States consulting for the global 
Tech giants such as Hewlett Packard (HP) as a Program Manager and 
later with Accenture PLC in Seattle, Washington. During his time there, 
his main clients included Microsoft and T-Mobile.

His area of focus is at the intersection of Business and Technology; his 
expertise is in helping organizations realize the promise of the digital 
revolution via adoption of modern engineering platforms and practices. 
He is a servant leader known for his high energy and contagious passion 
to solving complex problems.

He is also a Certified Project Management Professional (PMP) by the 
Global Project Management Institute (PMI) as well as a Certified SAFE 
Program Consultant (SPC4) by the Global Scaled Agile Academy. He 
has a bachelor’s degree in science information technologies and an 
MBA in Management both from Misericordia University in Pennsylvania.

Ms Chrissie Moloseni is a Chartered Global Management Accountant 
(CGMA) with Chartered Institute of Management Accounts UK. She has 
over 20 years experience in leading financial functions of service and 
manufacturing operations. She holds an MBA from the University of 
Bradford – School of Management (UK) and a Bachelor of Accountancy 
Degree from the University of Malawi. She further obtained Executive 
leadership training from IMD, Geneva Switzerland and INSEAD Busi-
ness School, Paris, France and Gordon Business School in South Africa. 
Chrissie Moloseni is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in Malawi. 
 
She is the Head of Finance for PPC International covering the PPC Africa 
operations in Rwanda, DRC, Ethiopia and Zimbabwe. Prior to joining the 
PPC Group in South Africa, she worked for the LafargeHolcim Group 
as Chief Financial Officer for Lafarge South Africa and prior to that she 
was Chief Financial Officer for Lafarge Zambia Plc. Before joining La-
farge Group she worked as the Finance Director for Alexander Forbes 
Malawi Ltd. She serves as a director and Chairperson of CIMERWA plc, 
a director and a member of the Board of PPC Zimbabwe, a member of 
PPC Barnet DRC and serves as a Chairperson of the Audit Committee of 
the PPC Barnet Group. Chrissie has also served on various boards in the 
manufacturing and financial institutions in South Africa and Sub-Sahara 
Region in Africa over the period.. 
 

Regis Rugemanshuro 
Board Chairman

Chrissie Moloseni  
Vice Chairperson
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2. Report of the Executive (continued) 

Board of Directors (continued)

Mr. Nyirimihigo is a career banker with over 30 years’ experience in proj-
ect financing. He previously worked with the Central Bank of Burundi 
and later was Director General of Rwanda Development Bank and Di-
rector General of the African Guarantee Fund in Niger.

He is now in private business as a real estate developer and is a Board 
member of Rwanda Investment Group.

Mr. Nyirimihigo is a graduate of Nairobi University and has a post grad-
uate diploma in Banking from CNAM University of France.

Mokate Ramafoko is the Managing Director of the International Division 
at PPC Ltd. He assumed this role in August 2017 after his tenure as Ex-
ecutive Director of the International Division since March 2016.

In his current role; Ramafoko oversees and provides strategic direction 
to all the various international businesses that PPC has majority shares 
in namely; PPC Zimbabwe, CIMERWA Ltd in Rwanda, PPC Barnet in 
DRC and HABESHA CEMENT SHARE COMPANY in Ethiopia; both as an 
executive manager of the respective country cement operations and as 
a mentor to all the countryheads.

Mokate, an engineer by profession comes with over 23 years of expe-
rience and expertise in cement manufacturing, quality assurance and 
cement process optimization. He has held various positions within the 
PPC group as well as Holcim (now Afrisam) and across various divisions.

He has amassed extensive knowledge in overseeing and managing 
large, complex, multi-million-dollar operations where he has been in-
strumental in driving business growth. Most recently, Mokate was ac-
tively involved in driving and guiding the CIMERWA and Zimbabwe 
businesses to realise an improvement in their processes and ultimately 
driving an overall cost reduction of 6%; subsequently improving their 
operational and business efficiencies.
Over and above his professional expertise; Mokate is passionate about 
business development and strategy. He holds a Master’s Degree in Busi-
ness Administration and a BSc (Hons) in Metallurgy.

Nyirimihigo JM Vianney 
Board Member

Mokate Ramafoko  
Board Member
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uate diploma in Banking from CNAM University of France.

Mokate Ramafoko is the Managing Director of the International Division 
at PPC Ltd. He assumed this role in August 2017 after his tenure as Ex-
ecutive Director of the International Division since March 2016.

In his current role; Ramafoko oversees and provides strategic direction 
to all the various international businesses that PPC has majority shares 
in namely; PPC Zimbabwe, CIMERWA Ltd in Rwanda, PPC Barnet in 
DRC and HABESHA CEMENT SHARE COMPANY in Ethiopia; both as an 
executive manager of the respective country cement operations and as 
a mentor to all the countryheads.

Mokate, an engineer by profession comes with over 23 years of expe-
rience and expertise in cement manufacturing, quality assurance and 
cement process optimization. He has held various positions within the 
PPC group as well as Holcim (now Afrisam) and across various divisions.

He has amassed extensive knowledge in overseeing and managing 
large, complex, multi-million-dollar operations where he has been in-
strumental in driving business growth. Most recently, Mokate was ac-
tively involved in driving and guiding the CIMERWA and Zimbabwe 
businesses to realise an improvement in their processes and ultimately 
driving an overall cost reduction of 6%; subsequently improving their 
operational and business efficiencies.
Over and above his professional expertise; Mokate is passionate about 
business development and strategy. He holds a Master’s Degree in Busi-
ness Administration and a BSc (Hons) in Metallurgy.

Nyirimihigo JM Vianney 
Board Member

Mokate Ramafoko  
Board Member



13

2. Report of the Executive (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)

Albert K. Sigei joined CIMERWA PPC as Chief Executive Officer on 06th 
January 2020. He comes as an experienced executive with more than 
18 years’ experience in the cement industry. He has lived and worked in 
varied cross-cultural geographies including Kenya, Egypt, Nigeria, UK 
and Malawi. With a sterling work pedigree in Business Development, 
Business Management and Change Management, he has a keen eye for 
business and a sharp mind for decisions. Just the right attributes for a 
captain of the ship.

Albert’s multi-disciplinary background including Engineering, Finance, 
IT, Risk Management and leadership set the stage for his 18-year-old ca-
reer in the durables sector. He has a first-class honors Bachelor’s Degree 
in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Nairobi, is a fellow of 
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) and grad-
uated from various executive courses offered by Ivy league Business 
Schools - INSEAD, London Business School, HEC Paris and The Ivey 
Business School at Western University.

He is passionate about Africa hence his unwavering focus on the impor-
tance of alignment between business purpose and societal needs.

Formerly with Bank of Kigali as Chief Finance Officer for over 4 years 
and on to Prime Insurance as CEO, John comes with a wealth of knowl-
edge in Business Finance Management and Planning. An avid numbers 
gentleman who had a broad understanding of business leads our Fi-
nance Division as the Chief Finance Officer.

Albert Sigei 
Board Member

John Bugunya 
 Board Member 
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Albert is the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of CI-
MERWA Plc, a leading cement player listed on the Rwanda Stock Ex-
change (RSE). He is an experienced executive with a wide exposure and 
close to 20 years’ experience in the cement industry, on top of an earlier 
6 years with Pricewaterhousecoopers. He has lived and worked in var-
ied cross-cultural geographies including Kenya, Egypt, Nigeria, United 
Kingdom and Malawi.
 
He has a unique multi-disciplinary background including Engineering, 
Finance, Business Administration, Information Technology, Risk Man-
agement and leadership. This includes an MBA from the Edinburgh 
Business School (Herriot Watt Business School), a first-class honors 
BSC Mechanical Engineering degree from the University of Nairobi, 
Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) 
and various executive programs delivered by top Business Schools – 
INSEAD, London Business School, HEC Paris and The Ivey Business 
School at Western University.

His wide international exposure and solid experience in Strategy, Busi-
ness Development, Change Management and General Management 
have been highly important as the captain of the CIMERWA Plc ship.
 
He is passionate about Africa hence his unwavering focus on the impor-
tance of alignment between business purpose and societal needs.

John Bugunya joined CIMERWA Plc as Chief Finance Officer (CFO)
in May 2017. He has wide experience in strategic management
processes, corporate governance, Risk management, Compliance
and Accounting Advisory gained from over 14 years post qualification
experience. Before joining CIMERWA, John was the Chief Executive
Officer of Prime Insurance Limited for three years (January 2015
– April 2017) and previously worked with Bank of Kigali as Chief
Finance Officer for five years (December 2009 – December 2014). 

He also worked in external assurance advisory with Deloitte in the 
United Kingdom and EY (previously “Ernst & Young”) in Uganda.
John is a qualified Accountant. He is a Fellow of the Association of
Certified Chartered Accountants (ACCA) and is also a member of the
Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Rwanda (ICPAR). 

Albert Sigei 
Board Member

John Bugunya 
 Board Member 
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2. Report of the Executive (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)

Florida Kabasinga is the Founder and Managing Partner of Certa Law 
Chambers, one of Rwanda’s leading Law Firms. After almost a decade 
practicing on the international legal circuit with the International Crimi-
nal Tribunal for Rwanda as a Case Manager, Assistant Appeals Counsel 
and Appeals Counsel. Florida returned to Rwanda where she occupied 
different positions from 2012.

In 2016, Florida established Certa Law which primarily represents banks 
and commercial clients. She sits on the Board of Guaranty Trust Bank. 
Florida leads Certa’s strategic vision and heads its Alternative Dispute 
Resolution practice (mediation & arbitration). She is an expert in labor 
matters and is a prolific litigator, mediator and arbitrator in different 
aspects of legal practice in Rwanda. She has appeared as an expert 
witness in different national jurisdictions and lectures in law at different 
universities.

Florida holds a Master of Laws degree (Magna cum Laude) from the 
University of Notre Dame in Indiana, USA and a Bachelor of Laws de-
gree (Hons) from Makerere University in Kampala, Uganda. She is a 
member of the Rwanda Bar Association, the East African Law Society, 
the American Bar Association, the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, the 
Kigali Arbitration Center and is a court appointed mediator.

Sternford Moyo has been a lawyer for about 40 years. He is the Senior 
Partner of Scanlen and Holderness, one of the largest law firms in Zim-
babwe established in 1894. It is ranked in band one by Chambers Direc-
tory. Mr Moyo is individually ranked in band one by the same directory.

He specializes in commercial law, corporate law and mining law. Mr 
Moyo is a former President of the Law Society of Zimbabwe and the 
Southern African Development Community Lawyers Association. Pres-
ently, he is the President of the International Bar Association. He is the 
first African lawyer to be elected to that position in the 74 years of the 
association.

During his many years in practice as a lawyer, he has acted as a direc-
tor of a number of companies. He is a former director and chairperson 
of Stanbic Bank Zimbabwe Limited, a member of the Standard Bank 
Group which is one of the leading commercial banks in Zimbabwe. He 
is, furthermore, a former chairperson of the Zimbabwe Revenue Au-
thority and Schweppes Zimbabwe Limited, one of the leading bottling 
companies in Zimbabwe.

Presently, he is the chairperson of Delta Corporation Limited, one of 
the largest Zimbabwean companies listed on the Zimbabwe Stock Ex-
change. He is, furthermore, a director of Padenga Holdings Limited, a 
company listed on the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange which has interests 
in crocodiles and mining, PPC Zimbabwe Limited, the leading cement 
company in Zimbabwe and Alpha Media Holdings Limited, the largest 
independent media company in Zimbabwe.

Florida Kabasinga
Board Member

Sternford Moyo
Board Member 
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Board Member
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2. Report of the Executive (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)

Edward is the Managing Director of Tendo Consulting SA (Pty) Ltd. Pri-
or to that he was a partner at Ernst & Young Advisory Services in South 
Africa where he serviced in various capacities over a 26-year period. A 
holder of CA(SA), CPA(K), MBA (Manchester University) and Bcomm 
(UON), Edward’s core competencies revolve around: financial manage-
ment and reporting, risk management and control transformation. He 
also serves in boards and audit committees of other organizations in 
East and South Africa across private and as well as public sector.

Anita D. Umuhire is a dynamic Chartered Accountant with over 14 years’ 
experience in Finance gained in various sectors: banking, audit, not-for-
profit and the FMCG (Fast-Moving Consumer Goods) industry; span-
ning markets such as South Africa, Rwanda and Kenya.

She is a member in good standing with both the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants and the Institute of Certified Public Accoun-
tants of Rwanda. She holds an MBA in Leadership and Sustainability 
from the University of Cumbria, Robert Kennedy College and is current-
ly pursuing CFA level II. She is currently the Deputy Managing Director 
of Inyange Industries and its subsidiaries.

Edward Okaro
Board Member

Anita D. Umuhire
Board Member 
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Board Member
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Board Member 
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2. Report of the Executive (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)

With over 25 years of commercial and leadership experience in finan-
cial services, mainly retail banking and card merchant services with full 
P&L responsibilities, Eunice has Notable expertise in commercial strat-
egy, business building and expansion through acquisitions and organic 
growth in highly regulated multinational companies – Absa Bank Kenya 
Ltd (formerly Barclays Bank Kenya), Barclays Head Office London, UK 
and she also held a regional job in Barclaycard International with re-
sponsibility in 32 countries in Africa.

She has Sector expertise in commercial risk & security having worked 
at executive levels for G4S Kenya, an international integrated security 
solutions provider with presence in over 120 countries, second largest 
employer globally with PBITA of approximately £427M.

Eunice Nyala
Board Member
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04. Key Performance Highlights (continued) 

Executive Team

Albert K. Sigei joined CIMERWA PPC as Chief Executive Officer on 06th 
January 2020. He comes as an experienced executive with more than 
18 years’ experience in the cement industry. He has lived and worked in 
varied cross-cultural geographies including Kenya, Egypt, Nigeria, UK 
and Malawi. With a sterling work pedigree in Business Development, 
Business Management and Change Management, he has a keen eye for 
business and a sharp mind for decisions. Just the right attributes for a 
captain of the ship.

Albert’s multi-disciplinary background including Engineering, Finance, 
IT, Risk Management and leadership set the stage for his 18-year-old ca-
reer in the durables sector. He has a first-class honors Bachelor’s Degree 
in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Nairobi, is a fellow of 
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) and grad-
uated from various executive courses offered by Ivy league Business 
Schools – INSEAD, London Business School, HEC Paris and The Ivey 
Business School at Western University.

He is passionate about Africa hence his unwavering focus on the impor-
tance of alignment between business purpose and societal needs.

Formerly with Bank of Kigali as Chief Finance Officer for over 4 years 
and on to Prime Insurance as CEO, John comes with

A wealth of knowledge in Business Finance Management and Planning. 
An avid numbers gentleman who had a broad understanding of busi-
ness leads our Finance Division as the Chief Finance Officer.

Albert K. Sigei
Chief Executive Office

John Bugunya
Chief Finance Officer 
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Senior Management 

Albert is the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of CI-
MERWA Plc, a leading cement player listed on the Rwanda Stock Ex-
change (RSE). He is an experienced executive with a wide exposure and 
close to 20 years’ experience in the cement industry, on top of an earlier 
6 years with Pricewaterhousecoopers. He has lived and worked in var-
ied cross-cultural geographies including Kenya, Egypt, Nigeria, United 
Kingdom and Malawi.
 
He has a unique multi-disciplinary background including Engineering, 
Finance, Business Administration, Information Technology, Risk Man-
agement and leadership. This includes an MBA from the Edinburgh 
Business School (Herriot Watt Business School), a first-class honors 
BSC Mechanical Engineering degree from the University of Nairobi, 
Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) 
and various executive programs delivered by top Business Schools – 
INSEAD, London Business School, HEC Paris and The Ivey Business 
School at Western University.

His wide international exposure and solid experience in Strategy, Busi-
ness Development, Change Management and General Management 
have been highly important as the captain of the CIMERWA Plc ship.
 
He is passionate about Africa hence his unwavering focus on the impor-
tance of alignment between business purpose and societal needs.

John Bugunya joined CIMERWA Plc as Chief Finance Officer (CFO)
in May 2017. He has wide experience in strategic management
processes, corporate governance, Risk management, Compliance
and Accounting Advisory gained from over 14 years post qualification
experience. Before joining CIMERWA, John was the Chief Executive
Officer of Prime Insurance Limited for three years (January 2015
– April 2017) and previously worked with Bank of Kigali as Chief
Finance Officer for five years (December 2009 – December 2014). 

He also worked in external assurance advisory with Deloitte in the Unit-
ed Kingdom and EY (previously “Ernst & Young”) in Uganda.
John is a qualified Accountant. He is a Fellow of the Association of
Certified Chartered Accountants (ACCA) and is also a member of the
Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Rwanda (ICPAR). 

Albert K. Sigei
Chief Executive Officer

John Bugunya
Chief Finance Officer 
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2. Report of the Executive (continued)

Executive Team
Godfrey joined CIMERWA on 18th September 2020 as the Head of Le-
gal, Corporate affairs and Company Secretary. He streamlines the func-
tioning of the Legal and Corporate affairs Department and oversees 
and steers legal and regulatory compliance.

Prior to joining CIMERWA, Godfrey worked as the Legal advisor and 
Company Secretary for BRALIRWA Plc (Heineken and Coca-Cola 
Rwanda). He also worked with Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB) 
as the Legal Director, Head of the Modernisation Team and Principal 
Internal affairs. He has a wide range of experience in legal advisory, cor-
porate governance, teaching/lecturing law and Consulting in different 
areas of law.

Godfrey has in past consulted for various Non-governmental organisa-
tions (USAID, University of Massachusetts- Boston-USA, International 
Labour Organisation (ILO), TROCAIRE international, Great Lakes Initia-
tive for Human Rights and Development (GLIHD), Winrock Internation-
al, Tetra Link East Africa, Institute of Policy Analysis and Research (IP-
AR)-Rwanda, etc); and Ministries and Institutions (MINIJUST, MIFOTRA, 
REMA, MINEAC, ILPD, etc).

Godfrey holds a Bachelor of Laws (LLB) from the University of Rwanda 
and Master’s degree in Commercial Law (LLM) from the University of 
Cape Town- South Africa. He also holds a Diplome d’étude en langue 
française from the University of Rwanda and several certificates in var-
ious areas of law, good governance and performance evaluation and 
management.

Rizah joined CIMERWA as Head, Supply chain.  She is at the helm of 
leadership oversight and guidance to a large supply chain management 
and technical team. She manages strategic relationships with business 
partners and clients in order to enable supply chain optimization.

Rizah joins us with a career that spans over fifteen years in Supply 
Chain, both in Rwanda and Kenya. Over the last eight years, she was 
working as Supply chain manager at Heineken Bralirwa and three years 
as Procurement Manager at KCB Bank tasked with local SC operations, 
customer service, supply planning, inbound/outbound logistics, ware-
housing and strategic sourcing.

She has a first-class honor master’s degree in Operations and Produc-
tion from India and a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from 
the National University of Rwanda.

Rizah has excellent leadership and influence skills, able to bring vision 
to a group and cross departments by demonstrating strong customer 
service mindset required. Rizah is a strong communicator, resourceful 
and creative with a capability of turning ideals into plans and executing 
them impeccably.

Godfrey Kamukunde
Head, Legal & Company Secretary

Mugabe Rizah
Head, Supply Chain
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Executive Team (continued)

Godfrey joined CIMERWA on 18th September 2020 as the Head of 
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Godfrey Kamukunde
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Having worked in the public sector with the National Capacity Building 
secretariat, Supreme Court of Rwanda, Bank of Rwanda and now the 
private sector with CIMERWA, Paul comes with multifaceted perspec-
tives on people management.

Paul has helped CIMERWA develop a people first culture that enables 
better output for the organization as a whole. Paul is a graduate of Mak-
erere University.

Godfrey Kamukunde
Head, Legal & Company Secretary
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Having worked in the public sector with the National Capacity Building 
secretariat, Supreme Court of Rwanda, Bank of Rwanda and now the 
private sector with CIMERWA, Paul comes with multifaceted perspec-
tives on people management.

Paul has helped CIMERWA develop a people first culture that enables 
better output for the organization as a whole. Paul is a graduate of Mak-
erere University.

Hailing from Madagascar, Mamy comes equipped with more than 20 
years of cement industry experience with LaFargeHolcim. He worked 
across different markets including Madagascar, Phillipines, Comoros 
and Malawi and has held various positions including Maintenance Man-
ager, Production Manager, Project Manager and Plant Manager.

He is a motivational leader with a master’s degree in mechanical engi-
neering coupled with hands-on technical knowledge. He is also a good 
communicator, listener and relationship-builder across departments.

Paul Nkusi 
Head, Human Resources

Mamy Andriamasiharivony
Plant Manager

Executive Team (continued)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the 2nd Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders of CIMERWA Plc as a listed company 
will be held by teleconference on Thursday 3rd February 2022 at 2:30 pm for the following purposes:

Ordinary business

1.	 Consideration of the annual report.
2.	 Receiving the auditor’s report.
3.	 Consideration and approval of the financial statements.
4.	 Appropriation of profit and total comprehensive income for the year. 
5.	 Discharge of the Directors and Auditors for the financial year 2021. 
6.	 Appointment of Directors. 
7.	 Appointment of Independent Auditors.

NOTES:

(a) Proxies

A member of the Company entitled to attend, and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend instead of him/her. A proxy 
for a corporation may vote on a poll. A proxy form is attached to the Annual Report and Accounts.
If the proxy form is to be valid for the purposes of the meeting, it must be completed and deposited (or sent via e-mail to:
bkcapital@bk.rw) at the head office of BK Capital Ltd, the registrars located in Kigali at KN 4 Ave, Street No.12, Tel: 
+250788143241, by 3rd February 2022.

(b) Dividend

A proposal not to pay a cash dividend for 2021 will be proposed to the annual general meeting of shareholders on 3rd Feb-
ruary 2022. Please take note that the book close date for CIMERWA Plc shares will be 26th January 2022, meaning that if 
a decision to pay out any dividend is taken, only shareholders whose names appear in the Register of Shareholders at the 
close of business on that day will be considered.

By order of the Board

Godfrey KAMUKUNDE, 

Company Secretary

Kigali, 24th December 2021.
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 PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS 

To the annual general meeting of shareholders of CIMERWA Plc to be held on 3rd February 2022

Resolution 1

Consideration of the annual report

The annual general meeting of shareholders considers and approves by ordinary resolution the annual report presented by 
the Chairman of the Board and thanks the Directors for the performance during the accounting year ended 30th Septem-
ber 2021.

Resolution 2

Receiving the auditor’s report

The annual general meeting of shareholders receives and approves the auditor’s report by ordinary resolution and notes the 
opinion of the auditors on the CIMERWA Plc 2021 audited financial statements.

Resolution 3

Consideration and approval of financial statements

The annual general meeting of shareholders considers and approves by ordinary resolution the CIMERWA Plc 2021 audited 
financial statements.

Resolution 4

Appropriation of profit and total comprehensive income for the year

The annual general meeting of shareholders approves the profit and the total comprehensive income for the year 2021 of 
Rwf 4,120,138,540 and receives the recommendation of the Board of Directors not to declare a dividend. 

The annual general meeting of shareholders approves the recommendation of the Board of Directors not to declare a div-
idend for the financial year ended 30th September 2021. The annual general meeting of shareholders decides to retain the 
net profit for the year to protect the company’s cash flow position and preserve liquidity.  

The annual general meeting of shareholders decides that the book close date is 26th January 2022. 

Resolution 5

Discharge of directors and auditors for financial year 2021

The annual general meeting of shareholders discharges the members of the Board and the Auditors for the year 2021.



2222

Resolution 6

Appointment of directors

The annual general meeting of shareholders appoints by ordinary resolution the following persons as Directors of CI-
MERWA Plc for a period of one year:

•	 Mr. Regis Rugemanshuro
•	 Ms. Chrissie Moloseni
•	 Mrs. Florida Kabasinga 
•	 Mr. Nyirimihigo Jean Marie Vianney
•	 Mr. Mokate Ramafoko
•	 Mrs. Anita Dancilla Umuhire
•	 Mr. Edward Okaro Omolo
•	 Ms. Eunice Nyala
•	 Mr. Sternford Moyo
•	 Mr. Albert Kipkemoi Sigei
•	 Mr. John Bugunya

The annual general meeting of shareholders requests the Directors to elect the Chairperson and the Vice Chairperson 
among themselves. To this end, the annual general meeting of shareholders asks Mr. Regis Rugemanshuro to convene and 
chair the first meeting of new Board of Directors. 

Resolution 7

Appointment of auditors

The annual general meeting of shareholders appoints by ordinary resolution KPMG – Rwanda Ltd as Auditor for a period 
of one year.
The annual general meeting of shareholders asks the Board of Directors to determine the fees and other expenses of the 
auditors.

By order of the Board

Godfrey Kamukunde

Company Secretary

Kigali, 24th December 2021 
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SALES & MARKETING

Our sales revenues during the year increased by 6.8% to reach 67.3B Rwf in spite the impact of COVID-19 lockdowns, supply 
chain challenges and reduced purchasing power which adversely impacted customers’ demand, especially in our trade seg-
ment (wholesale and retail market). Nonetheless, our construction and government segments performed reasonably well 
as key infrastructure projects remained active during the period. Our exports channel saw an impressive growth of +37% 
compared to previous year on the back of various strategic and tactical market actions.

We saw a significant pickup in the second half of the year following a muted market demand first half with COVID-19 restric-
tions. The performance above was achieved in spite of Rwanda witnessing a GDP decline of -3% in 2020. We are however 
optimistic of market demand growth going forward inline with GPD growth rate projections of 6% - 7% over the coming 
years. This will be mainly underpinned by the continued investment in infrastructure projects by the Government of Rwan-
da, but we also expect the overall post-covid economic growth to increase spending in the construction sector in general. 

Imported cement from East Africa continues to be our main source of competition on top of the local competitor that start-
ed operations in July 2020. Key to remaining competitive is effective cost and price optimization, coupled with a strong 
marketing, sales, and distribution strategy. CIMERWA Plc is widely known for its high-quality standards, and we know that 
this is a key consideration for our customers when they are making a purchase decision. We remain committed to keep this 
commitment going forward. 

Our export market remains a key area of focus for us over the next year, and we estimate that it shall contribute close to 20% 
of our total sales. We export mainly to the East and South Kivu Regions of Eastern DRC, and we are exploring re-entry into 
the Burundi market once the current border challenges are resolved. We project our  export segment to remain resilient in 
spite of structural and COVID-19 related challenges, supported by  reconstruction activities and strong economic growth 
in the region.

At home, we continue to achieve more than 90% delivered service due to our route-to-market optimization. We are further 
looking to digitize our commercial operations through the introduction of a Sales Automated System (SAS) and a suit of 
mobile apps to make buying our products easier for our customers. These digitization efforts will result in a more efficient, 
effective, and modernized commercial operation, and set us up for continued growth into the future.

Our customers remain king, and this is part of our ethos. We know that of all the things they value, service comes first. We 
are very committed to delivering a good service, and we have setup metrics across the organization to measure our cus-
tomer satisfaction. 

Insert pictures with captions of the customer appreciation night and cimegolf:

SUPPLY CHAIN REVIEW

If we were to define 2021, we could term it “déjà vu” to 2020.  Along with the ongoing pandemic, supply chains have grap-
pled with extreme weather events, transportation disruptions, facility shortages and shortages of people, raw materials and 
finished goods. These caused important impact on businesses including a sharp increase in international freight rates. And 
yet, as of this writing, major global economies are starting to perform at pre-pandemic levels. Clearly, supply chains are 
exhibiting agility and resilience, two essential traits for a world in which disruption is a major factor. 

As a value-adding Supply Chain function, the focus this year was on cost optimization with focus on key cost drivers. We 
kicked off the project with inbound material price renegotiations. Key achievements included coal price reduction by -3.3% 
in USD and a review of transportation costs to enhance logistics efficiency where effective Bulk tanker rates were reduced 
by more than 7.5%. This was achieved through a combination of operational effiencies and contracts renegotiation. To 
support balanced supply and demand, we have grown our bulk tanker fleet and target to have 17 to support to support lift 
required volumes for the New Bugesera International Airport and other critical infrastructure projects.  

On sustainability requirements embedded in supply chain business processes, we enabled the plant to achieve 12% alterna-
tive fuels to substitute Coal in the combustion stage (Peat, rice husks and palm kennels) which directly minimized impact 
on the environment and coal spend.  
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KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Health & Safety 

Performance on safety was remarkable as the year ended with a Zero Lost time Injury which is attributed to power of Team-
work, Management commitment, safety awareness, and employee and other stakeholders engagements. 

2021 ended with a steady and sustainable performance towards cleaner production process through onsite containment 
of waste in line with Reduce, Reuse, Recycle elements (3R) where generated wastes were able to be reused at the site, 
destroyed into the KILN including all plastics , and electronic waste recycled at the E-waste recycling plant . CIMERWA is 
envisaged to continue strengthening its efforts towards trees planting as a carbona sink machines. 

Control of COVID-19 and Vaccination: where we concluded the year with all 304 staff out of 305 fully vaccinated with addi-
tion of 401 contractor received full dose.

Certification to Integration of three ISO standards ( Occupational Health and safety , Environmental Management Systems 
and Quality management system) will ensure that our company continues to improve and further develop its performance 
in the spirit of sustainable environmental protection , occupational Health and safety as we strive for the satisfaction of our 
customers by delivering quality products. 
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In summary, the key actions taken during the year include:

•	 Finalization of the implementation of the Supply Chain organization blueprint to align to the business strategy. 
•	 End-to-end Cost Optimization and Savings agility.  
•	 Diversification of supply sources of key raw materials
•	 Improvement of supplier relationship management
•	 Outbound Logistics optimization 

We continue to support the business in the transformation drive , including factory automation, capacity de-bottlenecking 
for expansion and advanced systems remodeling. we procured some major equipment like Packer, CAT Excavator, crusher 
that have enabled enhanced Plant capacity that drive production Volumes. We are confident that further strides will be 
made in the coming year.

PLANT REVIEW

We are Rwanda’s only integrated cement producer which mines raw materials, produces clinker concentrate, packs and 
sells cement for general and specialized construction. The plant, commissioned in 2015, has an installed annual cement 
production nominal capacity of 600,000 metric tons of cement.

Key actions taken during the year include:

•	 A focused approach to equipment reliability resulting in a +7% increase on clinker production,
•	 Reduction in thermal energy consumption and costs by increasing usage of alternative fuels which are cheaper and 

more environmentally friendly from 8% to 12%,
•	 Enhancing Clinker quality with average C3S improvement by 4% which led to the reduction of Clinker Factor with as-

sociated cost savings with overall clinker factor reduction by 5% as well as increasing cement capacity in the market. 
Reduction of clinker factor will improve carbon footprint of the company. 

•	 We had an all-time record for clinker production in August 2021.
•	 Increase supply of cementitious material that helped to reduce clinker factor and increase output of cement mills.
•	 A focus on training to uplift the skills of employees,
•	 The focus on Health and Safety which allowed us to achieve 0 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) and more than 

2 million hours worked without an LTI.
•	 We maintained ISO certification of CIMERWA’s systems and are now focused on implementing the new ISO integrated 

management system covering Occupational Health & Safety, Quality and Environmental protection.
•	 JABALI culture change program for the development of Safety Leadership, a world class safety culture, underpinned 

by an overall drive across the Company for a performance-oriented culture.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As part of its journey to be the market leader, CIMERWA Plc reviewed and adopted an improved organizational blueprint 
during the year. Critical positions have been filled with the right skills and competencies supported by simplified Human 
Resource management systems such as Pay space for payroll, Oracle Fusion for employee performance management and 
SAP HCM for employee data management. 

We launched JABALI culture change program during the year with the aim of entrenching a performance-oriented culture 
across the organization. Key levers of this program include leadership development, clear purpose and direction, structure 
alignment and focus, provision of resources competencies, optimization of our business processes and systems, execution 
through effective stakeholder management, measurement for continuous improvement and recognition and reward. This is 
multi-year journey which is already starting to bear fruit with good financial performance during the period under review.
We emphasize a learning organization with the kick off of the Leadership and team building retreat for the Executive Com-
mittee and Key Leaders across the Company. We also rolled out an online platform Plural Sight for continuous learning and 
entrenched a Learning and Development function to steer talent development and other critical initiatives.  

We also rolled out an employee engagement flagship project to ensure that we achieve a highly mobilized workforce. An 
employee pulse survey carried out during the year showed a significant improvement from the previous survey with actions 
picked up for further enhancement of the work climate.  Our people are our strength. We empower them by creating a safe, 
healthy, rewarding, and meaningful working environment that allows us to deliver on our purpose. With a personal growth 
and performance driven mentality, CIMERWA Plc creates opportunities and provides resources to our employees that en-
able them to commit to the success of Company. 
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The Company continued to successfully manage the pandemic by prioritizing the health of our employees, stakeholders, 
and communities. Various actions were taken to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 restrictions including a cost savings 
program, cash preservation and route-to-market strategies to protect our topline. We appreciate the support given by var-
ious stakeholders, especially the Government of Rwanda through the Ministry of Health. Close to 100% of our staff are now 
fully vaccinated.

We continue to place the Health and Safety of all our staff,partners,community and other stakeholders at the top of our 
agenda.

 PLANT OPERATIONS REVIEW  

We are Rwanda’s only integrated cement producer which mines raw materials, produces clinker concentrate, packs and 
sells cement for general and specialized construction. The plant, commissioned in 2015, has an installed annual cement 
production nominal capacity of 600,000 metric tons of cement.

Key actions taken during the year include:

•	 A focused approach to equipment reliability resulting in a +7% increase on clinker production,
•	 Reduction in thermal energy consumption and costs by increasing usage of alternative fuels which are cheaper and 

more environmentally friendly.
•	 Enhancing Clinker quality with average C3S improvement by 4% which led to the reduction of Clinker Factor with as-

sociated cost savings with overall clinker factor reduction by 5% as well as increasing cement capacity in the market. 
Reduction of clinker factor will improve carbon footprint of the company. 

•	 We had an all-time record for clinker production in August 2021.
•	 Increase supply of cementitious material that helped to reduce clinker factor and increase output of cement mills.
•	 A focus on training to uplift the skills of employees,
•	 The focus on Health and Safety which allowed us to achieve zero Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) and more 

than 2 million hours worked without an LTI.
•	 We maintained ISO certification of CIMERWA’s systems and are now focused on implementing the new ISO integrated 

management system covering Occupational Health & Safety, Quality and Environmental protection.
•	 JABALI culture change program for the development of Safety Leadership, a world class safety culture, underpinned 

by an overall drive across the Company for a performance-oriented culture.

Income statement summary
 
The revenue in 2021 at 67.4bn is 6.8% above prior year. This was achieved in spite of the impact of COVID restrictions on 
domestic market demand through effective execution of our route-to-market actions such as exports growth, defending 
our domestic market share and price optimization actions. 

Cost of Sales remains flat to Rwf 49.7 billion (September 2020: Rwf 49.6 billion) compared with the previous year. 

Profit Before Income Tax (PBIT) stood at 5.4bn, which is an improvement of 179% versus prior year. This was on account of 
the operating profit improvement coupled with reduction in finance costs by 7.8% which is  in line with our reducing bor-
rowings balance. The above profitability performance drove our Earnings Per Share (EPS) up to 5.86, an improvement of 
111% compared to prior year.

Statement of Financial Position

Gross debt decreased by 18.3% to Rwf 35.3 billion (September 2020: Rwf 43.2 billion) due to loan instalment payments. 
The bank loans are a syndicated loan facility denominated in both US Dollars and Rwanda Francs, that was obtained for the 
construction of the 600,000 metric tons of cement plant capacity in 2013. This loan facility is due to be fully repaid by 2024.

Property, plant and equipment amounted to Rwf 77.7 billion (September 2020: Rwf 81.3 billion). Capital investments in 
property, plant and equipment increased by 14% to Rwf 3.3 billion (September 2020: Rwf 2.9 billion). These investments are 
geared towards de-bottlenecking the plant and increasing production capacity.

Inventories increased by 17% to Rwf 12.8 billion (September 2020: Rwf 10.9 billion). This is due to increase in critical spare 
parts and equipment such as transformer, inlet, and outlet seals for regular plant maintenance.



2626

Cash flow statement summary

The Company maintained a healthy cash balance of 14.3bn as at 30 September 2021, an improvement of 7.2% compared to 
prior period. This is in spite of increased inventories due to improved production performance and strategic stock holding in 
readiness for commencement of major construction projects in the pipeline as the economy recovers from COVID impact. 
The performance was enabled by improved operational performance and decline in trade receivables as management im-
plemented more robust credit management strategies and completion of some major infrastructure projects.
Borrowings relates to project financing for construction of our 600,000 metric tons capacity plant commissioned in 2015. 
The decline in the period due to loan repayments in line with the facility agreement.

Outlook

Projections indicate that Rwanda is turning the curve on GDP growth after the decline in calendar year 2021 with estimates 
of 6% - 7% growth being made going forward. We also have a health pipeline of major infrastructure projects that have 
commenced such as the New Bugesera Airport. To complement this, we have put in place strategies to grow in existing and 
new export markets going forward. We are therefore optimistic that further improvement in operational performance and 
the solid foundation laid so far will translate to even better financial performance going forward.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 

Highlights 

•	 CIMERWA implemented COVID-19 rapid testing across the business as a precautionary measure against the spread of 
the virus

•	 COVID-19 vaccine administered 99.7% of people at CIMERWA
•	 No LTIs were recorded in FY21 at CIMERWA operations, resulting in a lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR) of 0,00 

Lowlights and Response 

COVID-19 pandemic: 

A group policy on COVID-19 management was adopted and implemented at all CIMERWA, coupled with a reporting system 
to facilitate contact tracing and minimise further spread. This ensured business continuity

Implemented measures to align to Rwanda’s COVID-19 legal requirements 

CIMERWA is committed to building a proactive health and safety culture at individual, organisational and leadership levels. 
Managing occupational health and safety is critical to the sustainability of the business, and the company understands its 
responsibility towards protecting its people. For this reason, CIMERWA designs its operations to ensure everyone works in 
an environment that does not threaten their health and safety in any way.

The company rigorously monitors its occupational health and safety management through risk assessments, incident in-
vestigations, site inspections and observations, internal and external audits, legal compliance audits and regulatory re-
quirements. The company also creates a safe working environment through responsible maintenance and safeguarding its 
physical environment, such as infrastructure, equipment and tools. The company’s management and leadership teams are 
wholly committed to its health and safety principles.

CIMERWA is committed to its health and safety policy, The policy is guided by international best practice, as well as coun-
try-specific requirements, taking into account the varying health and safety risk profiles across operations. The policy is 
communicated to employees and contractors regularly and effectively through various engagements such as inductions, 
training and workshops, and toolbox talks. Any visitors to operations must attend health and safety inductions, where the 
policy is clearly explained to them.
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Target 
Actual Sep 

2021
Actual 

Sep 2020
Trend 

Fatalities 0 0 1 Down

Fatality frequency rate (FFR) per 200 000 hours worked 0 0 0.11 Down

LTIs 0 2 Down

LTIFR per 200 000 hours worked(12-month window) 0.20 0.0 0.23 Down

Total First Aid Cases (FAC) and Medical treatment cases (MTC)  14 28 Down

Total First Aid Cases (FAC) and Medical treatment cases (MTC) 35 96 Down

The company performance improved drastically whereby no LTIs were recorded in FY21. The LTIFR for CIMERWA was 0,00 
in FY21. A total of 5 medical treatment cases and 9 first aid cases were reported at the operation. A noticeable 50% reduc-
tion in FAC and MTC was recorded 

CIMERWA aims to subscribes to International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 45001 Safety Management Systems 
and 14001 Environmental Management Systems. The CIMERWA plant notified the Rwanda Certification Body (RCB) of its 
intention to obtain an integrated management system certification for ISO 45001 and 14001 which will position CIMERWA 
as a responsible cement producer. This will further support the goal to be a leader in the industry in Rwanda. Certification 
is aimed for FY22.

CIMERWA has implemented an additional safety awareness training programme for logistic contractors at their operations. 
The goal is to improve road safety and minimise potential property damage.

Occupational Health

The company intends to minimise risks in the workplace and surrounding communities by consistently identifying potential 
hazards. Employees must conduct entrance, exit and annual medical examinations, which are completed at the clinic. Ex-
tended medical check-up is conducted upon entry and exit, this include organ check-up, diabetes, HIV/ AIDS and hepatitis 
B & C. 

With regards to occupational hygiene surveys, CIMERWA monitors health concerns relating to noise, dust, and vibration. 
CIMERWA has well-established, onsite medical clinic with medical professionals responsible for managing diseases. All 
medical records and information are kept confidential between the medical practitioner and the patient. CIMERWA aims to 
expand the occupational health monitoring programme during FY22.

CIMERWA has an active malaria control programmes to ensure that the disease is managed proactively. In addition, a ma-
laria vectors control campaign in surrounding villages has been launched to control the spread of malaria the effectiveness 
of the programme is noticeable with a 59% reduction in malaria cases compared to the previous financial year. 

Occupational Health Performance

Health Indices Target 
Actual Sep 

2021
Actual 

Sep 2020
Trend 

Hypertension 0 0 1 Down

Malaria 0 0 0.11 Down

Responding to COVID-19

Health and safety are the most critical factors when CIMERWA considers employees. The advent of the COVID-19 pandemic 
meant that the company had to introduce additional protocols to existing systems and procedures.
CIMERWA recognises the commitment of employees to ensure their safety and that of their peers during this crisis. CI-
MERWA recorded a total of 67COVID-19 infections in FY21. 300 staffs vaccinated 

ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY MANAGEMENT 

CIMERWA understands that its operations have an inexorable impact on the environment. To ensure the company builds a 
thriving business while remaining a responsible corporate citizen, CIMERWA focuses on effective environmental and energy 
management. By doing this, the company can ensure the business continues to create sustainable value for stakeholders.
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Highlights

•	 CIMERWA achieved an average coal substitution with an alternative fuels and resource (AFR) rate of 12,7% against a 
target of 10%

•	 Clinker factor at CIMERWA improved by 11% during the year
•	 Planted 540 trees at Mashyuza Quarry as part of the Greening of CIMERWA project
•	 Ambient Air quality monitor installed at CIMERWA this will ensure compliance to Environmental and Social Impact 

Assessment commitments as well fulfilling REMA directives

Lowlights and Response

Communities surrounding CIMERWA lodged a complaint with Rwandan authorities relating to potential negative impacts 
of dust, noise and vibrations emanating from operations

•	 Engaged with the community and the Ministry of Environment
•	 Submitted an action plan, including a commitment to install ambient air monitoring and conduct an environmental 

audit, to the Rwanda Environment Management Authority (REMA)
•	 Completed an environmental audit with the results submitted to REMA
•	 Commissioned the ambient air monitoring

Climate Change and Energy

Cement making is an energy-intensive business and the company recognises that its energy consumption is inextricably 
linked to its carbon footprint. Therefore, CIMERWA is committed to efficient energy usage and effective management of 
the natural resources the business depends on. CIMERWA’s approach to effective and optimal energy management is guid-
ed the following pillars:

•	 Monitoring and evaluating all energy-related activities
•	 Continuously identifying energy-saving initiatives and implementing value-adding opportunities
•	 Improving thermal and electrical energy footprint
•	 Investigating and possibly implementing and producing PPC’s own source of electricity using renewable and non-re-

newable resources

This was further impacted by higher-than-average limestone moisture content at CIMERWA negatively impacting raw mill 
throughput and, consequently, kiln capacity utilisation. PPC is implementing a limestone dryer project to mitigate this issue.

CIMERWA continued focusing on electrical energy cost reductions by aligning production plans with optimal time-of-day 
power usage. The site installed a 50kW solar photovoltaic (PV) plant based on a power purchase agreement (PPA) and 
is exploring the possibility to increase the capacity of the plant to 1MW under a second PPA. The company employs local 
community members to conduct regular maintenance and upkeep of the plant. CIMERWA also installed 51 solar power units 
to power the geysers of houses in the local village during the year.

Climate change remains a very real and imminent threat. Globally, PPC has seen a significant and growing number of cli-
mate-related drivers materially impacting companies. This includes new regulatory requirements, pressure from investors 
and civil societies, industry membership requirements, and changing customer preferences and demands for goods and 
services.  The company recognises the effect of its thermal and process activities on the environment and is committed to 
responsibly and efficiently managing the natural resources on which it relies. Fit-for-purpose cement products, which have 
a low carbon footprint, are a significant part of its current mitigation efforts. The company is also implementing measures 
to improve thermal efficiency, reduce clinker and improve cement quality.

An alternative energy management programme enables the companies to identify and understand any risks and oppor-
tunities relevant to operations, and implement short and long-term solutions to climate change. CIMERWA, particularly, 
had success with alternative materials (peat, rice husks and plastic bottles), achieving a substitution rate of approximately 
12.07% against a targeted 10%, emanating from improved process stability. Furthermore, CIMERWA increased its levels of 
peat usage, which peaked at11.2% and improved total coal substitution to 12.07% The plant’s clinker factor reduced by 5.7% 
global mainly due to various product mix initiatives.
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PPC is constantly finding innovative ways to improve the way it operates. In FY21, the group which include CIMERWA op-
eration has appointed a consultant, Change Pathways, to help it develop a roadmap to guide its response to the growing 
stakeholder expectations related to climate change. The company will particularly focus on how it can incorporate the 
recommendations of the TCFD into the business and develop a climate change strategy to improve performance. This will 
also help investors, regulators and other stakeholders better understand PPC’s approach to mitigating the effects of climate 
change.

CIMERWA Plc plans continue to increase its efforts towards tree planting effectively employing them as carbona sink 
machines. Tree planting was adopted at CIMERWA because it is an effective way of reducing carbon emissions as well as 
restoring the ecosystem.

Energy intensity FY21 FY20

Thermal-specific heat consumption (MJ/t clinker) 3.91 4.03

Electrical-specific energy consumption (kWh/t cement produced) 128.7 132.17

Carbon footprint

CIMERWA monitors its carbon footprint, including direct and indirect emissions and energy consumption, by collecting, 
monitoring, and assessing data. This is a critical step to effectively identify ways to improve its processes and manage its 
emissions and energy usage effectively. Regular internal verification audits are done to assess and improve the accuracy and 
assurance of data collection and analysis processes.

Net CO2 intensity: Cementitious (kgCO2e/t) FY21 FY20

3.91 695

Water Management 

PPC has a holistic, integrated approach to water management to ensure it considers the needs of its entire business across 
countries. In this way, the company can manage water-related impacts beyond its operational boundaries by:

•	 Identifying water sources and uses
•	 Monitoring water quantity and quality
•	 Managing water usage according to monitoring results
•	 Reusing and augmenting alternative sources
•	 Complying with legislative requirements 
•	 Conducting risk assessments, including agility on emerging legal requirements for issues of national and sustainability 

interest

The Mashyuza hot spring located close to the CIMERWA quarry suddenly dried up during the
year. This was a significant cause for concern with speculation that the incident was caused by
blasting activities from PPC’s quarry. However, after an investigation conducted by the Rwanda Mines, Petroleum and Gas 
Board, it was discovered that the disappearance of the hot spring was caused by a natural chemical weather process, ruling 
out PPC’s blasting activities.

CIMERWA’s water permit application is on hold pending finalisation of the newly established
Institution of Water Resource Management. Rwanda also announced a new water tariff regulation. CIMERWA has instituted 
a water management programme to prepare for forthcoming legislative requirements.

Water intensity (m3/t cement) FY21 FY20

0.35 0.47

Air Quality Management

CIMERWA’s manufacturing processes release air emissions such as dust particulate matter (PM), SO2 and NOx. The compa-
ny ensures it monitors all emissions from its operations as effectively as possible, and its inventory of relevant requirements 
is updated regularly. Emissions from kiln stacks and other legislated points are monitored. CIMERWA’s conducts continu-
ously monitoring of NOx and PM, SO2 emissions are monitored periodically.
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PPC focused on regular maintenance and in-house calibration of its continuous emission monitoring systems. The company 
annually conducts stack emission verification through independent stack emission testers. Logistical delays have histori-
cally prevented CIMERWA from effectively conducting stack emission verifications, however, the company has purchased 
isokinetic equipment to ensure the site complies with the statutory requirement timeously.

Air Emissions (mg/Nm3) FY21 FY20

Thermal-specific heat consumption (MJ/t clinker) PM NOx SOx PM NOx SOx

Electrical-specific energy consumption (kWh/t cement 
produced)

21.61 1122.57 5.42 35.03 1243.1 4.13

Waste Management

CIMERWA’s waste management programme identifies waste streams and monitors the general and
hazardous waste produced from its business activities. The goal is to recycle and reduce waste.
The waste management programme complies with the waste hierarchy, which is informed by the general principles of 
waste management and focuses on reducing waste sent to landfills. As a cement manufacturer, the company is uniquely 
positioned to enhance this hierarchy through co-processing activities by substituting coal with alternative materials – such 
as tyres and biomass. 

This will preserve natural resources and reduce its carbon footprint while providing sustainable solutions to waste manage-
ment in the long term. In Rwanda, CIMERWA has seen promising results from this process and achieved an average coal 
substitution with AFR rate of 12.07% against a target of 10%

CIMERWA also implemented a zero-waste strategy to reduce the impact of its operations on the
environment. The strategy helps PPC empower its host community members by creating employment opportunities as 
waste handlers. By achieving zero waste, CIMERWA fulfils the waste management hierarchy and has shifted towards a circu-
lar economy. The plant supports the Ministry of Environment’s waste reduction strategy to replace 500ml single-use plastic 
water bottles with 20l refillable bottles. This has created an 80% cost saving for the operation.
Onsite containment of waste in line with 3R enabled Cimerwa to reuse generated wastes destroyed into the kiln and elec-
tronic waste recycled through E-waste recycling plant based in Bugesera – Easten province and CIMERWA received a cer-
tificate for of the same. This approach has permitted Cimerwa  to maintain a steady and sustainable performance towards 
cleaner production processes.

SALES & MARKETING REVIEW

Our sales revenues during the year increased by 6.8% to reach 67.4B Rwf in spite of the impact of COVID-19 lockdowns, 
supply chain challenges and reduced purchasing power which adversely impacted customers’ demand, especially in our 
trade segment (wholesale and retail market). Nonetheless, our construction and government segments performed reason-
ably well as key infrastructure projects remained active during the period. Our exports channel saw an impressive growth 
of +37% compared to previous year on the back of various strategic and tactical market actions.

We saw a significant pickup in the second half of the year following a muted market demand in the first half with COVID-19 
restrictions. The performance above was achieved in spite of Rwanda witnessing a GDP decline of -3% in 2020. We are 
however optimistic of market demand growth going forward inline with GDP growth rate projections of 6% - 7% over the 
coming years. This will be mainly underpinned by the continued investment in infrastructure projects by the Government 
of Rwanda.

Imported cement from East Africa continues to be our main source of competition on top of the local competitor that start-
ed operations in July 2020. Key to remaining competitive is effective cost and price optimization, coupled with a strong 
marketing, sales, and distribution strategy. CIMERWA Plc is widely known for its high-quality standards, and we know that 
this is a key consideration for our customers when they are making a purchase decision. 

At home, we continue to achieve more than 90% delivered service due to our route-to-market optimization. We are further 
looking to digitize our commercial operations.

Our customers remain king, and this is part of our ethos. We know that of all the things they value, service comes first. We 
are very committed to delivering a good service, and we have setup metrics across the organization to measure our cus-
tomer satisfaction. 
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 SUPPLY CHAIN REVIEW 

In the year 2021, the supply chain function made significant achievements despite the impact of the pandemic on global 
transportation.  Along with the ongoing pandemic, supply chains have grappled with extreme weather events, transporta-
tion disruptions, facility shortages and shortages of people, raw materials and finished goods. These have adversely impact-
ed on on businesses including a sharp increase in international freight rates. Clearly, supply chains are exhibiting agility and 
resilience, two essential traits for a world in which disruption is a major factor. 

As a function, the focus this year was on cost optimization with a focus on key cost drivers. We kicked off the project with 
inbound material price renegotiations. Key achievements included coal price reduction by -3.3% in USD and a review of 
transportation costs to enhance logistics efficiency where effective Bulk tanker rates were reduced by more than 7.5%. This 
was achieved through a combination of operational effiencies and contracts renegotiation. To support balanced supply and 
demand, we have grown our bulk tanker fleet so as to transport the required volumes for the New Bugesera International 
Airport and other critical infrastructure projects.  

On sustainability, we continue to support the plant operations towards achieving lower carbon emissions through substitu-
tion of coal with alternative fuels such as peat, rich husks, palm kennels among others.

We remain committed to supporting the business in its transformation drive , including factory automation, capacity 
de-bottlenecking for expansion and advanced systems remodeling. We remain confident that further strides will be made 
in the coming year.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As part of its journey to be the market leader, CIMERWA Plc reviewed and adopted an improved organizational blueprint 
during the year. Critical positions have been filled with the right skills and competencies supported by simplified Human 
Resource management systems such as Pay space for payroll, Oracle Fusion for employee performance management and 
SAP HCM for employee data management. 

We launched JABALI culture change program during the year with the aim of entrenching a performance-oriented culture 
across the organization. Key levers of this program include leadership development, clear purpose and direction, structure 
alignment and focus, provision of resources competencies, optimization of our business processes and systems, execution 
through effective stakeholder management, measurement for continuous improvement and recognition and reward. 

We also rolled out an employee engagement flagship project to ensure that we achieve a highly mobilized workforce. An 
employee pulse survey carried out during the year showed a significant improvement from the previous survey with actions 
picked up for further enhancement of the work climate.  Our people are our strength. We empower them by creating a safe, 
healthy, rewarding, and meaningful working environment that allows us to deliver on our purpose. 

 STRATEGIC REVIEW 

A foundation for growth and performance improvement:

•	 The cement sector in Rwanda has a supply gap, an enviable position in EAC, with a demand of about 0.9Mtpa. Demand 
is projected to keep rising with population and urbanization growth of target of around 35% by 2024, Bugesera Inter-
national Airport, Green cities, Model Villages, transport infrastructure development and other key projects.

•	 Rwanda Vision 2050 – ‘high standards of living’ for all, Build to recover program and the made in Rwanda initiatives 
are on high gear providing impetus for CIMERWA Plc as a market leader to diversify its production range and growth 
volumes.

•	 A Professional management team with a wealth of experience including Engineering, Strategy, Project Management, 
Law, and finance are critical for the success of our business. 

•	 We strive to focus on strengthening our position by debottlenecking the plant to its designing capacity of 600Ktpa by 
FY 2023. 

•	 CIMERWA Plc has proven to be resilient in difficult economic times, continuing to generate sustainable value for our 
stakeholders. We do this by offering our customers consistent products of good quality across the materials value 
chain.
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How we create value for stakeholders: 

To be the leading producer and supplier of quality cement and related products as well as solutions in the Great Lakes re-
gion while maximizing shareholder value, stakeholder roles are critical. 

•	 We deliver quality products to our customers by focusing on high growth, low consumption per capita market with 
increasing urbanization, modern asset base and actively seeking to minimize the adverse impact for our operations to   
the environment.

•	 We stabilized the performance of our core operations and continued to protect our financial viability as we position 
the Company for future growth. We will continue to de-bottleneck the plant, keep initiatives to optimize the costs, 
defend & grow the market share through a robust route-to-market, and entrench strong governance framework and a 
high-performance culture. 

•	 We also take into consideration the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and how it affects our human 
capital and took firm measures to address these.

External Environment:

•	 Consumer demand for cement and associated products is strongly driven by GDP growth and stage of economic de-
velopment. While COVID-19 has been disruptive, Rwanda’s economic potential is positive with forecast GDP growth 
rates of 5.1% in 2022 after a dip to -3% in 2020. (Source: NKC research report, October 2021). 

•	 A new entrant, Prime Cement has commissioned a 0.6 million tonnes capacity milling plant in Musanze. Rwanda’s na-
tional cement demand stands at about 0.9 million tons per year. The country now has an improved supply and demand 
balance which should see import reduction going forward. As the only local player that produces clinker, we stand with 
a cost leadership advantage that should put us in good stead to defend our market share.

Stakeholders Management:

•	 CIMERWA understands and proactively responds to legitimate stakeholder concerns and ensures effective governance 
across the company:

•	 Shareholders and lenders provide the capital we need to operate our business and expect sustainable returns on their 
investments over the long term. To be credible in the eyes of these stakeholders, we need to achieve positive financial 
results under the guidance of strong leadership.

•	 Constructive relationships with key government departments in Rwanda are critical to our success. We monitor any 
policy and regulatory developments closely. We proactively engage with our suppliers to ensure an efficient and effec-
tive procurement process and sport enhancement through annual Cimegolf tournaments

•	 Our employees are vital to maintaining CIMERWA’s competitive edge and achieving our key performance indicators 
which drive our strategy. We therefore ensure that we have a diverse, competitive, and capable workforce that will de-
liver on our business objectives and create value for our stakeholders in the long term.

Without our customers, we are unable to operate. Our customer value proposition ensures that our customers receive qual-
ity products and service offerings while creating mutually beneficial relationships. We engage with various associations to 
appreciate customers and industry bodies as part of our inclusive approach to the way we do business. In this way, we have 
input to proposed legislation and regulatory changes, which could affect our business.

We continue to strengthen the relationships with our communities, which are crucial to our social license to operate. We aim 
to build practical relationships that enable suitable and relevant projects that address the specific needs of the community.

Material Risks:

•	 Disruption of production at CIMERWA may arise from equipment breakdowns and power interruptions and spares. We 
plan to execute reliability and capacity improvement initiatives to maximize capacity utilization going forward.

•	 Significant parts of the CIMERWA’s operations require licenses and permits from various Governmental authorities. We 
monitor these licenses closely to ensure prompt renewals and compliance with their conditions.

•	 Due to cement manufacturing process, our operations unavoidably release  carbon dioxide (CO2)  and other emissions 
into the atmosphere. We continue to enhance strategies to further reduce these emissions and, subsequently, our 
impact on the environment such as clinker factor reduction, alternative fuels usage and investment in dust capturing 
equipment.
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INTRODUCTION

The company is governed by Rwanda corporate and securities laws, its Articles of Association, and the decision of the 
Board and Management respectively. 

Its corporate governance framework is also based on the Rwandan Corporate Governance Code (dated July 2, 2012), Rwan-
da’s Capital Markets Authority (CMA) laws, regulations, guidelines, and East African Community Directives and RSE rules 
and guidelines governing listed entities in Rwanda. 

Additionally, the Board and Management have implemented the various underlying policies and procedures as well as sep-
arate codes of ethics and conduct that apply to all employees working with the company. 

OUR BOARD

Our board of directors is ultimately accountable to CIMERWA shareholders and stakeholders for the management of the 
Company. It oversees governance of the company and is responsible for the company’s strategic direction and control. The 
board exercises its control in terms of the Company’s governance framework and gives a strategic direction that guides the 
Management in all company activities.

The directors individually and collectively conduct themselves with integrity, competence, responsibility, accountability, 
fairness, and transparency as they discharge their duties.

The Board is accountable to the General Meeting of Shareholders for the fulfillment of its respective duties. The Manage-
ment is entrusted with the day today management of the company.
 
The other senior staff members support the Management in the fulfilment of its managerial duties. 

BOARD COMPOSITION 

CIMERWA’s board is committed to lead the Company objectively and effectively. The board therefore consists of the ap-
propriate mix of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity, gender and independence which is commensurate with the nature, 
scale and complexity of the business and risks of CIMERWA.

At the end of the financial year, our board comprised nine non-executive and two executive Directors.
The board has four standing committees to which it delegated certain functions with the specific objective of evaluating 
key areas of its mandate on a more detailed basis. 

These committees include:

•	 The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC).
•	 The Human Resources Social Ethics and Transformation Committee (HRSET).
•	 The Strategy and investment Committee, and
•	 Adhoc/Special Assignments Committee. 

While the delegation to the board’s committees promotes independent judgement and assists with the balance of power, 
it does not relieve the board of its duties. Our board of directors meets as often as required but at least four times annually.

BOARD COMMITTEES

CIMERWA’s board committees are instrumental in streamlining corporate governance and improving internal controls in the 
company. Each committee has an approved and documented terms of reference which are reviewed at least every second 
year and is constituted with due regard to the skills required by each committee to ensure the necessary knowledge, skills, 
experience and capacity to fully execute its duties. The committees report to the Board on material issues that arise in the 
year. 
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AUDIT, RISK AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (ARCC)

The ARCC exits pursuant to article 156 of law n° 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies. It is chaired by Mr. Edward 
Okaro Omolo and provides independent oversight of the effectiveness of CIMERWA’s internal audit, finance and assurance 
functions and services, risk management, systems of governance, and technology and information governance, along with 
ensuring the company complies with all relevant laws and regulations.

The ARCC further recommends the appointment of an external auditor, oversees the external audit process and the integri-
ty of the company’s interim and preliminary announcements and any other announcements pertaining to results. The ARCC 
also assists the board to monitor CIMERWA’s reporting activities, including the annual report and other external reporting.

HUMAN RESOURCES SOCIAL ETHICS AND TRANSFORMATION COMMITTEE (HRSET)

Chaired by Ms. Eunice Nyala, the HRSET provides oversight of CIMERWA’s ethical, environmental and social performance, 
monitoring CIMERWA’s activities against relevant legislation, legal requirements or prevailing codes of best practice on 
matters relating to social and economic development, transformation, the environment, health and public safety, stakehold-
er relationships, and labour and employment.

It also assists the board in ensuring that the company is, and remains committed to being, a socially responsible corporate 
citizen by creating a sustainable business and having regard to CIMERWA’s economic, social and environmental impact on 
the communities in which it operates.

THE STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Chaired by Ms. Anita Dancilla Umuhire, the Committee comprises at least two non-executive Directors (NEDs), the majority 
of whom are independent, with the required skills and experience.

The Committee assists the Board with evaluating and reviewing the company’s investment framework, considers, evaluates, 
and analyses potential investments, acquisitions, divestments, and joint ventures; reviews post-project audits on major 
CAPEX and investments where applicable and addresses any identified gaps in the various investment projects in line with 
its charter. 

ADHOC/SPECIAL ASSIGNMENTS COMMITTEE.

This Committee is indeed adhoc and is only fully constituted on a need basis to handle special assignments as may be 
assigned by the Board from time to time. Once constituted, the Committee members elect from among themselves the 
Chairperson who reports to the Board regarding the assignment provided.
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Analysis of CIMERWA Plc shareholdings as at 30th September 2021

Capital Number and Class of Shares Percentage of Issued Shareholder

PPC International Holdings (Pty) Ltd  358,641,960 ordinary shares 51%

Rwanda Social Security Board  142,306,060 ordinary shares 20%

AGDF Corporate Trust Fund 116,152,360 ordinary shares 16.5%

Rwanda Investment Group 80,550,600 ordinary shares 11. 5%

Sonarwa Holdings Limited 5,370,040 ordinary shares 1%

Local individuals 193,200 ordinary shares 0%

Foreign Individuals 5,300 ordinary shares 0%

Total 703,219,520 ordinary shares 100%
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2021, 
which disclose the state of affairs of CIMERWA PLC (the “Company”). 

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company is the manufacture and sale of cement and other related products.

Results and dividend

The results for the year ended 30 September 2021 are set out on page 42.
The directors do not recommend dividend payment for the year (2020: Nil). 

Directors

The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report were:

Regis Rugemanshuro Chairperson

Albert Sigei Kipkemoi Chief Executive Officer (Appointed 25 March 2021)

Mokate Ramafoko Director

Nyirimihigo Jean Marie Vianney Director 

Chrissie Moloseni Director

John Bugunya Chief Financial Officer (Appointed 25 March 2021)

Anita Dancilla Umuhire Director (Appointed 25 March 2021)

Eunice Nyala Director (Appointed 25 March 2021)

Florida Kabasinga Director (Appointed 25 March 2021)

Edward Okaro Omolo Director (Appointed 25 March 2021)

Sternford Moyo Director (Appointed 25 March 2021)

Christian Rugeri Director (Resigned 31 May 2021)

Phindokuhle Mohlala Director (Resigned 31 October 2020)

General information

CIMERWA PLC is incorporated in Rwanda under Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies and is domiciled 
in Rwanda.  The address of its registered office is:

Kimihurura Sector
Gasabo District
PO Box 644
Kigali - Rwanda

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers Rwanda Limited’s term will come to an end at the next annual general meeting. KPMG Rwanda 
Limited have been proposed as the successor auditor and a resolution for the appointment will be tabled at the next AGM.



36

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2021, 
which disclose the state of affairs of CIMERWA PLC (the “Company”). 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is the manufacture and sale of cement and other related products.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results for the year ended 30 September 2021 are set out on page 8.
The directors do not recommend dividend payment for the year (2020: Nil).  

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report were:

STATEMENT OF DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES

Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the financial year and of 
its profit or loss.  It also requires the directors to ensure that the Company keeps proper accounting records that disclose, 
with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the Company.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the Company.
 
The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using appropriate ac-
counting policies supported by reasonable estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies.  The directors are of the opinion that the 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the financial affairs of the Company and of its surplus in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of 
accounting records that may be relied upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement.
 
Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Company will not remain a going concern for at least 
twelve months from the date of this statement.

Approval of the financial statements

The accompanying financial statements on pages 41 to 87 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors and signed 
on its behalf by:

Director	

			 

30th /  November  /  2021
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Director	

30th /  November  /  2021
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CIMERWA PLC 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Our opinion

In our opinion, CIMERWA PLC’s financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
CIMERWA PLC (the “Company”) as at 30 September 2021, and of its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the require-
ments of Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies.

What we have audited

The Company’s financial statements on pages 41 to 87 comprise:
•	 the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2021;
•	 the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
•	 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
•	 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
•	 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Ac-
countants (“IESBA”) International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International In-
dependence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accor-
dance with the IESBA Code.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. The matter below was addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on the matter.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Rwanda Limited , 5th  Floor, Blue Star House, 35 KG 7 Ave, Kacyiru
PO Box 1495 Kigali, Rwanda

Tel: +250 (252) 588201/2/3/4/5/6 , www.pwc.com/rw

Directors: M Karanja M Nyabanda B Kimacia P Ngahu
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Key audit matter

Recoverability of the deferred income tax asset

The Company has carried forward income tax losses of Frw 19.8 billion as at 30 September 2021 with a related deferred 
income tax assets of Frw 3.9 billion (note 13). A significant amount of the tax losses arose in 2015 from claiming a 50% 
investment deduction on the commissioning of the current plant.

The policies for recognising deferred income tax assets are explained in note 25 (m). Assumptions made by the directors 
in recognising the deferred income tax asset are disclosed in note 21 (i).

The tax losses were set to expire on 30 September 2020 but the directors applied for, and were granted, an extension of 
the expiry period to 30 September 2022. The directors have reassessed the projected utilisation and are of the view that 
further extension beyond September 2022 will be required. The directors, in supporting the utilisation of the tax losses 
beyond 30 September 2022, have made projections on the basis that the current production constraints will have been 
resolved to enable the Company achieve its targeted sales and hence will be in a position to generate sufficient taxable 
profits.

The key assumptions which make this an area of focus are:

•	 Rwanda Revenue Authority will grant the request for extension of expiry of tax losses to September 2025 as the 
Company is still eligible;

•	 The Company will continue to meet the requirements for extension of the expiry period as per the Rwanda Income 
Tax Act of 16/2018 and the Ministerial Order No. 006/19/10/TC of 29/04/2019 determining requirements for authori-
sation to a taxpayer to carry forward loss for more than five tax periods (the “Ministerial Order”);

•	 The Company will generate sufficient taxable profits over the extension period for it to fully utilise the deferred in-
come tax asset.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We have performed the following procedures:

•	 Reviewed the requirements of the Income Tax Act and the Ministerial Order No. 006/19/10/TC of 29/04/2019;

•	 Assessed the eligibility criteria set out in the Ministerial Order which provides for extension of the period of recovery 
up to 5 years beyond the initial expiry period of 5 years;

•	 Reviewed actions taken by the directors to ensure that they will continue to meet the requirements of the Ministerial 
Order;

•	 Evaluated the likelihood of utilization of the deferred income tax asset through review of prior year performance as 
well as projected future taxable profits;

•	 Evaluated the adequacy and consistency of the relevant disclosures in the financial statements.
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Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ re-
port and the Statement of directors’ responsibilities (but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the other informa-
tion that will be included in the Annual Report which is expected to be made available to us after that date. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstat-
ed. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the other information that will be included in the Annual Report, if we conclude that here is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of Law No. 007/2021 
of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability 
of the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit con-
ducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material mis-
statement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the ef-
fectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esti-
mates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
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•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or con-
ditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the dis-
closures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to elimi-
nate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most signifi-
cance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicat-
ed in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  

Article 132 of Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies requires that in carrying out our audit 
we consider and report to you on the following matters.  We confirm that:

•	 We have no relationship, interest or debt with the Company. As indicated in our report on the financial 
statements, we have complied with the required ethical requirements. These are the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) which in-
cludes comprehensive independence and other requirements;

•	 We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief 
were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

•	 In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company, so far as appears from our 
examination of those books; and

•	 We have communicated to the Company’s Board of Directors, through a separate management letter, 
internal control matters identified in the course of our audit including our recommendations in relation 
to those matters.

•	 According to the best of the information and the explanations given to us as auditors, as shown by the 
accounting and other documents of the Company, the annual accounts comply with Article 123 of Law 
No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies.

For PricewaterhouseCoopers Rwanda Limited, Kigali,

Moses Nyabanda

Director

21 January 2022



41

YEAR ENDED
30 SEP 2021

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

41

YEAR ENDED
30 SEP 2021

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



42

Statement of comprehensive income  

Notes
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

Revenue 1 67,373,754  63,092,204 

Cost of sales 2 (49,656,151) (49,593,393)

Gross profit 17,717,603 13,498,811

Other income 3 204,489  329,787 

Interest income 130,744  147,972 

Administrative expenses 4 (a) (6,519,541) (5,635,424)

Impairment losses on financial assets 4 (b) 91,480 (60,473)

Operating profit 11,624,775 8,280,673

Net foreign exchange losses 5(a) (671,339)  (323,541)

Finance costs 5(b) (5,552,066)  (6,020,912)

Profit before income tax 5,401,370 1,936,220

Income tax (expense)/ credit 6 (1,281,230) 15,520

Profit for the year 4,120,140 1,951,740

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,120,140 1,951,740

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable 
to the ordinary equity holders of the Company:

Basic earnings per share 25   5.86 2.78

Diluted earnings per share 25 5.86 2.78

The notes on pages 12 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 september 2021

Notes
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

Revenue 1 67,373,754  63,092,204 

Cost of sales 2 (49,656,151) (49,593,393)

Gross profit 17,717,603 13,498,811

Other income 3 204,489  329,787 

Interest income 130,744  147,972 

Administrative expenses 4 (a) (6,519,541) (5,635,424)

Impairment losses on financial assets 4 (b) 91,480 (60,473)

Operating profit 11,624,775 8,280,673

Net foreign exchange losses 5(a) (671,339)  (323,541)

Finance costs 5(b) (5,552,066)  (6,020,912)

Profit before income tax 5,401,370 1,936,220

Income tax (expense)/ credit 6 (1,281,230) 15,520

Profit for the year 4,120,140 1,951,740

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,120,140 1,951,740

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable 
to the ordinary equity holders of the Company:

Basic earnings per share 25   5.86 2.78

Diluted earnings per share 25 5.86 2.78

The notes on pages 46 to 87 are an integral part of these financial statements.



43

Statement of financial position

Assets Notes
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7   77,678,023  81,359,938

Exploration and evaluation assets 8 (a)  467,335   618,621

Intangible assets 8 (b)  157,827  49,698

Right of use asset 19  18,033 31,558

Environmental guarantee 18  8,710 8,710

78,329,928 82,068,525

Current assets

Inventories 9   12,788,139   10,904,555 

Current income tax 6  122,277 109,168

Trade and other receivables 10   4,040,552  5,840,007

Cash and cash balances 11  14,288,649 13,330,241

31,239,617 30,183,971

Total assets 109,569,545 112,252,496

Equity and liabilities

Equity attributable to owners

Share capital 12  35,160,976 35,160,976 

Share premium  22,251,408 22,251,408 

Retained earnings    4,287,096   166,956

61,699,480 57,579,340

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax 13   2,836,423 1,555,193

Borrowings 15  24,292,665 34,178,229

Rehabilitation and decommissioning 
provisions

18  149,329 208,434

Non-current lease liabilities 19 5,521 19,005

27,283,938 35,960,861

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 (a)  7,487,924 8,726,990

Provisions 14 (b)  966,446 413,172

Bank borrowings 15  10,958,029   8,978,828

Amounts due to related parties 17  1,158,817   580,585

Current lease liability 19  14,911 12,720

20,586,127 18,712,295

Total equity and liabilities 109,569,545 112,252,496

The notes on pages 12 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 September 2021

Assets Notes
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7   77,678,023  81,359,938

Exploration and evaluation assets 8 (a)  467,335   618,621

Intangible assets 8 (b)  157,827  49,698

Right of use asset 19  18,033 31,558

Environmental guarantee 18  8,710 8,710

78,329,928 82,068,525

Current assets

Inventories 9   12,788,139   10,904,555 

Current income tax 6  122,277 109,168

Trade and other receivables 10   4,040,552  5,840,007

Cash and cash balances 11  14,288,649 13,330,241

31,239,617 30,183,971

Total assets 109,569,545 112,252,496

Equity and liabilities

Equity attributable to owners

Share capital 12  35,160,976 35,160,976 

Share premium  22,251,408 22,251,408 

Retained earnings    4,287,096   166,956

61,699,480 57,579,340

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax 13   2,836,423 1,555,193

Borrowings 15  24,292,665 34,178,229

Rehabilitation and decommissioning 
provisions

18  149,329 208,434

Non-current lease liabilities 19 5,521 19,005

27,283,938 35,960,861

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 (a)  7,487,924 8,726,990

Provisions 14 (b)  966,446 413,172

Borrowings 15  10,958,029   8,978,828

Amounts due to related parties 17  1,158,817   580,585

Current lease liability 19  14,911 12,720

20,586,127 18,712,295

Total equity and liabilities 109,569,545 112,252,496

The notes on pages 46 to 87 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity

Notes
Share capital 

Frw’000
Share premium

Frw’000

Retained 
earnings 
Frw’000

Total equity
Frw’000

Year ended 30 September 2020

At 1 October 2019 35,160,976 22,251,408 (1,784,784) 55,627,600

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year - - 1,951,740 1,951,740

Other comprehensive income  - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 1,951,740 1,951,740

At 30 September 2020 35,160,976 22,251,408 166,956 57,579,340

Year ended 30 September 2021 

At 1 October 35,160,976 22,251,408 166,956 57,579,340

Comprehensive income:   4,040,552   5,840,007

Profit for the year - - 4,120,140 4,120,140

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for  the year 4,120,140 4,120,140

At 30 September 2021 35,160,976 22,251,408 4,287,096 61,699,480

The notes on pages 12 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 September 2021

Notes
Share capital 

Frw’000
Share premium

Frw’000

Retained 
earnings 
Frw’000

Total equity
Frw’000

Year ended 30 September 2020

At 1 October 2019 35,160,976 22,251,408 (1,784,784) 55,627,600

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year - - 1,951,740 1,951,740

Other comprehensive income  - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 1,951,740 1,951,740

At 30 September 2020 35,160,976 22,251,408 166,956 57,579,340

Year ended 30 September 2021 

At 1 October 35,160,976 22,251,408 166,956 57,579,340

Comprehensive income:

Profit for the year - - 4,120,140 4,120,140

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for  the year 4,120,140 4,120,140

At 30 September 2021 35,160,976 22,251,408 4,287,096 61,699,480

The notes on pages 46 to 87 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

Notes
2021 

Frw’000
2020 

Frw’000

Profit before income tax 5,401,370 1,936,220

Adjustments for:

Interest income  (130,744) (147,972)

Foreign exchange losses 5  671,339 323,542

Loss allowance on cash and cash equivalents  23,165 12,250

Finance costs  5,552,066 6,020,912

Loss/ (gain) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

5 14,330 -

Depreciation charge on property, plant and 
equipment

7  6,917,886 7,849,778

Depreciation charge on right of use asset 7  13,525 9,017

Impairment charge on the peat plant 8 207,075 -

Amortization charge on exploration and evaluation 
asset

8  72,313 53,050

Amortization charge on intangible assets 7  32,983 18,492

Changes in working capital:

Increase in environmental guarantee - (8,710)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables   1,799,455 781,720

Increase in inventories   (1,883,584) (2,436,950)

Increase in due to related parties  578,232 352,523

Increase in trade and other payables (685,792) 994,403

Cash generated from operations 18,583,619  15,758,275

Interest received  130,744 108,825

Income tax paid (13,108) 11,450

Net cash inflow from operating activities 18,701,254 15,855,650

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7   (3,250,301) (2,923,380)

Purchase of exploration and evaluation asset 8(a)  78,973 (404,561)

Purchase of intangible assets  (141,112) (30,513)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,312,439) (3,358,454)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings 15  (14,034,954)  (7,410,501)

Principal elements of lease payments 19 (ii)  (7,425) (8,850)

Net cash used in financing activities (14,042,379) (7,419,351)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,346,435 5,077,845

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,330,241 8,137,106

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents

16 (388,027) 115,290

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14,288,649 13,330,241

The notes on pages 12 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 September 2021

Notes
2021 

Frw’000
2020 

Frw’000

Profit before income tax 5,401,370 1,936,220

Adjustments for:

Interest income  (130,744) (147,972)

Foreign exchange losses 5  671,339 323,542

Loss allowance on cash and cash equivalents  23,165 12,250

Finance costs  5,552,066 6,020,912

Loss/ (gain) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

5 14,330 -

Depreciation charge on property, plant and 
equipment

7  6,917,886 7,849,778

Depreciation charge on right of use asset 7  13,525 9,017

Impairment charge on the peat plant 8 207,075 -

Amortization charge on exploration and evaluation 
asset

8  72,313 53,050

Amortization charge on intangible assets 7  32,983 18,492

Changes in working capital:

Increase in environmental guarantee - (8,710)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables   1,799,455 781,720

Increase in inventories   (1,883,584) (2,436,950)

Increase in due to related parties  578,232 352,523

Increase in trade and other payables (685,792) 994,403

Cash generated from operations 18,583,619  15,758,275

Interest received  130,744 108,825

Income tax paid (13,108) 11,450

Net cash inflow from operating activities 18,701,254 15,855,650

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7   (3,250,301) (2,923,380)

Purchase of exploration and evaluation asset 8(a)  78,973 (404,561)

Purchase of intangible assets  (141,112) (30,513)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,312,439) (3,358,454)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings 15  (14,034,954)  (7,410,501)

Principal elements of lease payments 19 (ii)  (7,425) (8,850)

Net cash used in financing activities (14,042,379) (7,419,351)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,346,435 5,077,845

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,330,241 8,137,106

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents

16 (388,027) 115,290

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14,288,649 13,330,241

The notes on pages 46 to 87 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes

1. Revenue

The Company has one operating segment. The operations of the Company are located in only one geographic location, 
Rwanda. The revenue of the operating segment is presented below.

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Revenue from the sale of cementitious goods 67,373,754 63,092,204

Revenue is recognised when the Company transfers control of goods to a customer at the amount to which the Company 
expects to be entitled. Revenue is recognised at a point in time. The Company applies the five-step approach as per IFRS 
15 Revenue from contracts with customers to determine when to recognise revenue and at what amount. The following 
approach is used:

•	 Identify contract with customer;
•	 Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
•	 Determine the transaction price;
•	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
•	 Recognise revenue.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties. 

The Company accounts for a contract with a customer only when: there is evidence of an arrangement; the Company can 
identify each party’s rights regarding the goods to be transferred; the contract has commercial substance and collectability 
is reasonably assured. 

The Company’s principal business is the sale of cementitious products. Revenue is recognised upon completion of the 
performance obligation, being the delivery of the product to the customers. Revenue is recognised net of rebates and dis-
counts provided to the customers.

Revenues of approximately Frw 2,889 million (2020: Frw 9,274 million) are derived from a single external customer

2. Cost of sales

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Direct materials  8,015,617  7,328,108 

Energy 17,203,901  16,922,378 

Employee benefits expense (Note (4c))  4,738,946 3,561,834

Depreciation  6,498,071   7,572,560

Change in inventories  (3,276,249)  (176,779)

Transportation 7,925,172 8,224,860

Outsourced services 702,790 1,274,583

Plant repairs and maintenance 4,248,001 3,322,797

Equipment hire 460,224 334,348

Consumables 1,663,899 241,521

Local taxes 475,721 391,512

Insurance 548,794 461,850

Amortization charge on exploration and evaluation asset 
(Note 8(a))

72,313 53,050

Impairment charge on the peat plant 207,075 -

Other direct costs 171,876 80,771

49,656,151 49,593,393

46

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Notes (continued)

2. Cost of sales (continued)

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Depreciation expense is analysed as follows:   

Included within:

Cost of sales above 6,498,071 7,572,560

Administrative expenses (Note 4(a)) 212,740 277,218

Impairment of peat plant 207,075

Total depreciation and impairment of property, plant and 
equipment (Note 7)

6,917,886 7,849,778

3. Other income

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Insurance refund  124,254 

Sale of scrap and other items  118,249  134,691 

Lease income from rental of staff houses 40,027    50,642 

School fees    39,500  14,006 

Medical clinic income 6,713   6,194 

204,489 329,787

Insurance refund
Insurance refund relates to proceeds from insurance company, SONARWA, for losses incurred following a business loss 
incidents in May and July 2020.

Sale of scrap and other items
Income from the sale of scrap and other items is recognised at a point in time as the goods are delivered to the customer 
and it is reasonably certain that the customer will pay.

Lease income from rental of staff houses
Lease income from operating leases is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs 
incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as ex-
pense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet 
based on their nature. 

School fees and medical clinic income
As part of its community support projects, the Company operates a school and a medical clinic and charges subsidised 
school and medical services fees, respectively. Income from these activities is recognised over time as the services are pro-
vided.
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Notes (continued)

2. Cost of sales (continued)

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000
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school and medical services fees, respectively. Income from these activities is recognised over time as the services are pro-
vided.
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Notes (continued)

4. (a) Administrative expenses

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Employee benefits expense (Note 4(c)) 2,307,815 2,169,671

Professional consultancy costs 197,800 72,425

Depreciation (Note 2) 212,740 277,218

Travelling and accommodation 162,487 247,987

Sales and marketing 335,638 310,906

Company functions and meals 148,873 448,945

Management support fees 302,109 249,197

Insurance 345,823 380,817

Technical support fees 760,548 168,715

Bank charges 161,575 245,289

Salaries and wages school (Note 4(c)) 97,358 80,489

Health and safety 71,857 -

Donations 20,696 27,762

Auditor’s remuneration 47,828 47,828

Repairs and maintenance 274,014 289,651

Membership and subscription 73,399 11,599

Amortization charge on intangible assets (Note 8(b)) 32,983 18,492

Litigation expenses 30,567 36,962

Penalties 289,348 421

Loss on disposal of assets 14,330 -

Increase in loss allowance on cash and equivalents 23,165 12,250

Depreciation – right of use asset 13,525 9,017

Office running costs 422,224 434,003

Other administrative expenses 172,839 95,780

6,519,541 5,635,424

4. (b) Impairment losses on financial assets

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Loss allowance on trade and other receivables (Note 10)  91,480 60,473
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Notes (continued)

4. (a) Administrative expenses

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Employee benefits expense (Note 4(c)) 2,307,815 2,169,671

Professional consultancy costs 197,800 72,425

Depreciation (Note 2) 212,740 277,218

Travelling and accommodation 162,487 247,987

Sales and marketing 335,638 310,906

Company functions and meals 148,873 448,945

Management support fees 302,109 249,197

Insurance 345,823 380,817

Technical support fees 760,548 168,715

Bank charges 161,575 245,289

Salaries and wages school (Note 4(c)) 97,358 80,489

Health and safety 71,857 -

Donations 20,696 27,762

Auditor’s remuneration 47,828 47,828

Repairs and maintenance 274,014 289,651

Membership and subscription 73,399 11,599

Amortization charge on intangible assets (Note 8(b)) 32,983 18,492

Litigation expenses 30,567 36,962

Penalties 289,348 421

Loss on disposal of assets 14,330 -

Increase in loss allowance on cash and equivalents 23,165 12,250

Depreciation – right of use asset 13,525 9,017

Office running costs 422,224 434,003

Other administrative expenses 172,839 95,780

6,519,541 5,635,424

4. (b) Impairment losses on financial assets

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Loss allowance on trade and other receivables (Note 10)  (91,480) 60,473
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Notes (continued)

4. (c) Employee benefits expense

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Salaries and wages 6,756,512 5,384,690

Retirement benefits costs:

•	 Contributions to the Rwanda Social Security Board 321,707 281,950

•	 Other staff costs 65,900 145,354

7,144,119 5,811,994

Included within:

•	 Cost of sales 4,738,946 3,561,834

•	 Administrative expenses 2,307,815  2,169,671

•	 Salaries and wages school  97,358  80,489

7,144,119 5,811,994

5. (a) Net foreign exchange losses

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Foreign exchange gains 977,981   267,918 

Foreign exchange losses (1,649,320)  (591,459)

(671,339) (323,541)

5. (b) Finance costs

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Interest expense on long term borrowings 5,527,800 5,859,938

Interest expense on short term loans and overdrafts  -  241,949 

Reassessment of rehabilitation and decommissioning provision 
during the year

- (96,901)

Unwinding of discount on rehabilitation and decommissioning 
provision

  19,868   11,937 

Interest on finance lease liabilities 4,398  3,989 

5,552,066 6,020,912
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6. Income tax expense

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

Current income tax

Deferred income tax expense/(credit) (Note 13) 1,281,230 15,520

Income tax expense/(credit) 1,281,230 15,520

The tax on the Company’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory 
income tax rate as follows:

Profit before income tax 5,401,370 1,936,220

Tax calculated at the statutory income tax rate of 20% (2020: 
20%) 

1,080,274 387,244

Tax effects of:

•	 Change in tax rate from 30% to 20% for newly listed       
companies - (523,571)

•	 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  878,934 135,101

•	 Prior year understatement of deferred income tax liabilities (674,506) (14,294)

Income tax expense/(credit) 1,281,230 (15,520)

The current income tax asset on the statement of financial position is analysed as follows:

2021 
Frw’000

2020 
Frw’000

At start of year 109,168 97,718

Withholding tax paid during the year 13,109 11,450

Current income tax receivable at 31 December 122,277 109,168
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7. Property, plant and equipment

Land
Frw’000

Buildings
Frw’000 

Motor 
vehicles

Frw’000

Computer 
equip-

ment
Frw’000

Plant and 
machinery

Frw’000

Office fur-
niture and 

equip-
ment

Frw’000

Work in 
progress
Frw’000

Total
Frw’000

At 1 October 
2020

  

Cost  1,544,857  2,699,508  2,391,636  859,186  113,763,501  788,129 360,857 122,407,674

Accumulated 
depreciation

 (758,871) (2,042,021)  (706,325) (37,036,236)  (504,283) - (41,047,736)

Net book 
amount

 1,544,857  1,940,637  349,615 152,861 76,727,265 283,846 360,857 81,359,938

Year ended 
30 Septem-
ber 2021

  

Opening net 
book amount

 1,544,857  1,940,637  349,615  152,861  76,727,265  283,846  360,857  81,359,938 

Disposals at 
cost

- (712) (188,544) (66,361) (682,550) (70,685) - (1,008,852)

Additions  -  -   138,900  28,002    1,851,215   155,025 1,077,159 3,250,301

Transfers 
from work in 
progress

  -    75,914  -  -   119,522 - 
  

(195,436)
 - 

Disposals – 
accumulated 
depreciation

- 307 188,544 64,622 670,388 70,662 - 994,523

Depreciation 
charge  -   (153,361)   (169,026) (102,629) (6,364,837) (128,033) - (6,917,886)

Closing net 
book amount 

 1,544,857 1,862,785 319,489 76,495 72,321,003 310,815 1,242,580  77,678,023

At 30 Sep-
tember 2021  - 

Cost  1,544,857  2,774,710  2,341,992  820,827  115,051,688  872,469 1,242,580  124,649,123  

Accumulated 
depreciation  (911,925) (2,022,503)  (744,332) (42,730,685)   (561,654) (46,971,100)

Closing net 
book amount

1,544,857 1,862,785 319,489 76,495 72,321,00 310,815 1,242,580 77,678,023

Property, plant and equipment as security is as disclosed on note 15
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7. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Land
Frw’000

Buildings
Frw’000 

Motor 
vehicles

Frw’000

Computer 
equip-

ment
Frw’000

Plant and 
machinery

Frw’000

Office fur-
niture and 

equip-
ment

Frw’000

Work in 
progress
Frw’000

Total
Frw’000

At 1 October 
2019 Cost

  

Cost  1,051,074  2,463,563  2,323,162  768,079  111,063,327  719,696  1,303,593  119,692,495 

Accumulated 
depreciation

 (601,993) (1,866,580)  (555,713) (29,801,485)  (372,189)  - 
 

(33,197,960)

Net book 
amount

 1,051,074  1,861,568 456,582 212,365 81,261,845 347,508  1,303,593  86,494,53

Year ended 
30 Septem-
ber 2020

  

Opening net 
book amount

 1,051,074  1,861,568  456,582  212,365  81,261,845  347,508  1,303,593  86,494,535 

Additions  549  37,650  68,475  91,108  2,615,397  60,541  49,660  2,923,380 

Transfers 
from work in 
progress

 493,234  198,295  -  -  84,776  7,892  (784,197)  - 

Transfers to 
exploration 
assets

- - - - - (208,199) (208,199)

Depreciation 
charge -  (156,876)  (175,442)  (150,612)  (7,234,753)  (132,095)  -  (7,849,778)

Closing net 
book amount 

 1,544,857 1,940,637  349,615 152,861 76,727,265 283,846 360,857 81,359,938

At 30 Sep-
tember 2020

Cost  1,544,857  2,699,508  2,391,636  859,186  113,763,501  788,129 360,857  122,407,674 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

 -  (758,871) (2,042,021)  (706,325) (37,036,236)  (504,283) (41,047,736)

Closing net 
book amount

1,544,857 1,940,637  349,615 152,861 76,7271265 283,846 360,857 81,359,938

Property, plant and equipment as security is as disclosed on note 15
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7. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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7. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

During the year, the directors reassessed the useful lives of property, plant and equipment as required by IAS 16 Property, 
plant and equipment. This followed an assessment of the life of the quarry. The life of the quarry was reassessed to more 
appropriately reflect the pattern of the consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the quarry. In accordance 
with IAS 16, this reassessment represents a change in an accounting estimate and is therefore applied prospectively in terms 
of IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors. The review resulted in changes in the expected 
useful lives of the following asset categories:

Prior useful life Current useful

Asset category (years) life(years)

Plant and machinery 22 years 24 years

The impact of the change in applying the adjusted useful life for the year ended 30 September 2021 is a a decrease in depre-
ciation expense of Frw 529 million. The future impact of this change is expected to be similar, if all variables remain constant.

Work in progress

Work in progress comprises the following:

•	 Frw 753 million: Critical spares that are transferred to the respective asset class once installed
•	 Frw 280 million: Pozzolana crusher being setup at the plant
•	 Frw 125 million: Cement silos being setup at distribution centres
•	 Frw 59 million: Capital expenditure waiting for installation at the plant site.  
•	 Frw 24 million : Land expropriation costs and testing which are still ongoing. The land located in Nyakabuye and Kiban-

gira are being expropriated for mining activities.
 
8. (a) Exploration and evaluation assets

2021 Frw’ 000 2020 Frw’ 000

Cost (years) life(years)

At start of year 760,141 147,381

Additions - 404,561

Change in estimate (78 ,973) -

Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 208,199

At end of year 681,168 760,141

Amortisation

At start of year   (141,520)  (88,470)

Charge for the year (72,313) (53,050)

At end of year (213,833) (141,520)

Net book value 467,335 618,621

Exploration and evaluation assets relate to capitalised limestone deposits exploration costs and estimated mine rehabilita-
tion and decommissioning costs. They are amortised over the estimated life of the limestone reserves. The assets are depre-
ciated over a 24 year period (2020: 22 year period). During the year, the life of the mine was reassessed, which increased it 
from the original life of 22 years to 24 years. As at 30 September 2021, the remaining life of the mine was 16 years (2020: 14 
years). The impact of the change is disclosed in the table above.
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8. (b) Intangible assets

2021
Frw’ 000

2020
Frw’ 000

Cost

At start of year 151,413 120,900

Additions 141,112 30,513

292,525 151,413

Amortisation

At start of year   (101,715)  (83,223)

Charge for the year    (32,983)   (18,492)

At the end of year (134,698) (101,715)

Net book value 157,827 49,698

Intangible assets relate to software licenses.

9. Inventories

2021
Frw’ 000

2020
Frw’ 000

Spare parts   6,996,296   7,385,645 

Semi-finished goods 3,813,586  1,231,017 

Fuel oil   91,137   292,245 

Coal 636,589   1,286,476 

Raw materials   1,099,170  182,057 

Finished goods    344,569    144,398 

Paper bags 340,900   447,759 

Other consumables 525,760   978,152 

Provision for inventories (1,059,868)  (1,043,194)

12,788,139 10,904,55

During the year, expensed inventory amounted to Frw 37,901 million (2020: Frw 43,831 million) for inventories. This is rec-
ognised in cost of sales.

The movement on provision for inventories during the year is as follows:

2021
Frw’ 000

2020
Frw’ 000

at 1 October (1,043,194) (812,812)

Additional provisions during the year (16,674) (303,947)

Releases of provisions during the year - 73,565

Disposals - -

At 30 September (1,059,868) (1,043,194)
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10. Trade and other receivables

2021
Frw’ 000

2020
Frw’ 000

Trade receivables 1,840,474  3,965,175 

Less: loss allowance (340,840)  (432,320)

Net trade receivables 1,499,635 3,532,855

Prepayments 2,310,378   2,104,909

Advances to related parties (Note 17 (vi)) 211,260 191,930

Other receivables 19,280 10,313

Total prepayments and other receivables 2,540,917 2,307,152

4,040,552 5,840,007

Prepayments at 30 September 2021 included amounts of Frw 1,850 million (2020: Frw 2,000 million) relating to advance 
payments for factory spare parts, capital expenditure for expected crusher improvements and insurance prepayments 
amounting to Frw 462 million (2020: Frw 374 million). 

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair values.

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 30 September 2021 and 2020 reconcile to the opening loss allow-
ances as set out below.

2021
Frw’ 000

2020
Frw’ 000

Opening loss allowance as at 1 October 432,320 371,847

(Decrease)/ increase in specific provisions (45,399) 162,714

(Decrease)/ increase in general loss allowance (46,082) (102,241)

Net loss allowance recognised in income statement during the 
year

340,840 60,473

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible - -

Total loss allowance as at 30 September 340,840   432,320

11. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:

2021
Frw’ 000

2020
Frw’ 000

Cash at bank 14,336,837 13,355,543

Less: loss allowance (49,076) (25,912)

Cash in hand   888 610

14,288,649 13,330,241
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11. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

The closing loss allowances for cash balances as at 30 September 2021 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as set out 
below.

2021
Frw’ 000

2020
Frw’ 000

Opening loss allowance as at 1 October 25,911 13,661

Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance during the year 23,165 12,251

49,076 25,912

12. Share capital

Number of shares
’000

Ordinary share capital
Frw’000

Share premium
Frw’000

Ordinary shares each with a par value of 
Frw 50 at 1 October 2019, 30 September 
2020 and 30 September 2021

703,220 35,160,976 22,251,408

The total authorised and issued number of ordinary shares is 703,219,520 (2020: 703,219,520) with a par value of Frw 50 
per share. All issued shares are paid up.

Share premium arose when the shares of the Company were issued at a price higher than the nominal (par) value.

Earnings per share

2021 2020

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders — Frw'000 4,120,140 1,951,740

Weighted average number of shares – ‘000 703,220 703,220

Earnings per share:

Basic earnings per share — Frw 5.86 2.78

Diluted earnings per share — Frw 5.86 2.78

As at 30 September 2021, the Company did not have any potential ordinary shares.

The Company is in the process of setting up an employee share option plan. This will grant employees share options that 
could be potential ordinary shares. Since the plan has not yet been operationalised, these have not been considered in cal-
culating the Company’s diluted earnings per share. As a result, earnings per share is based on the Company’s profit after 
income tax divided by the number of shares in issue during the year for each of the presented years.
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11. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
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13. Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is calculated using the enacted income tax rate applicable to a listed entity of 20% (2020: 20%) within 
the first 5 years of initial listing. The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

At start of year 1,555,193 1,570,714

Charge/(credit) to profit and loss account (Note 6) 1,281,230 (15,520)

At end of year 2,836,423 1,555,193

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax credit in the statement of comprehensive income (SOCI), are 
attributable to the following items:

1 October 2020
Frw’000

Charged/
(credited) to P&L

Frw’000

30 September  2021
Frw’000

Year ended 30 September 2021

Deferred income tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment:

•	 On a historical cost basis 7,814,222 (524,309) 7,289,913 

Deferred income tax assets

Tax losses carried forward (5,854,185) 1,882,687 (3,971,497)

Provisions (404,844) (77,148) (481,992)

(6,259,029) 1,805,539 (4,453,489)

Net deffered income tax liability 1,555,193 1,281,230 2,836,424

Year ended 30 September 2020

Deferred income tax assets

Tax losses carried forward (10,264,225) 4,410,040 (5,854,185)

Provisions (764,704) 359,860 (404,844)

(11,028,929) 4,769,900 (6,259,029)

Net deferred income tax liabilities 1,570,714 (15,520) 1,555,193

Deferred income tax assets relating to unused tax loss carry-forwards and to deductible temporary differences are rec-
ognised if it is probable that they can be offset against future taxable profits or existing temporary differences. As at 30 
September 2021, the Company had recognised deferred income tax assets on carried forward income tax losses totalling 
Frw 3,971 million (2020: Frw 5,854 million) since it was foreseeable that carried forward tax losses could be offset against 
future taxable profits. 

The directors applied for, and were granted, an extension of two years to losses that were to expire by September 2022 as 
per the provisions of the Income Tax Act enacted in April 2018 and the accompanying ministerial order No 006/19/TC of 
29/04/2019 gazette No 18 of 6/05/2019 that allows companies to seek for an extension to carry forward tax losses for a 
further five-year period beyond the statutory period

See note 21 (i) for significant assumptions made regarding the recoverability of the deferred income tax assets arising from 
carried forward tax losses.
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14. (a) Trade and other payables

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Trade payables 3,717,443   4,360,453

Amounts due to plant contractors 102,272  216,329 

Customer deposits 918,138  3,408,296 

Statutory liabilities 1,888,139  669,774

Accrued expenses 802,824   -

Other payables 59,109 72,138

7,487,925 8,726,991

14. (b) Provisions

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Leave pay accrual 470,893  376,209 

Provision for litigations 45,867  36,963

Bonus accrual 449,686 -

966,446 413,172
 
i) Leave pay accrual

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

At 1 October 376,209 325,350

Additional provisions during the year 94,684 50,879

Releases of provisions during the year - -

470,893 376,209

ii) Provision for litigations

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

At 1 October 36,963 -

Additional provisions during the year 24,404 36,963

Releases of provisions during the year 45,867 36,963

iii) Bonus accrual

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

At 1 October

Additional provisions during the year - 590,406

Releases of provisions during the year 449, 686

(590,406)

449,686 -
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15. Borrowings

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Non-current bank loans 24,292,665 34,178,229

Current bank loans 10,958,029 8,978,828

Total borrowings 35,250,694 43,157,057

The bank loans are a syndicated loan facility denominated in both US Dollars and Rwanda Francs. The facility was fully 
drawn down in 2015.

the currency and interest rates under each participating bank are as follows:

Currency
Interest rate 

p.a
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

 TDB Bank US$ LIBOR+7.25% 9,352,410 11,686,084

 East Africa Development Bank US$ LIBOR+7.25% 1,869,830 2,336,299

 Ecobank Rwanda Plc Frw 16% 2,266,959 2,750,235

 Bank of Kigali Plc Frw 16% 11,770,870 14,271,463

 KCB Bank Rwanda Plc Frw 16% 8,410,836 10,197,880

I&M Bank Rwanda Plc Frw 16% 1,579,789 1,915,096

35,250,694 43,157,057

The movement for loans from financial institutions as below:

Long term loan

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

As at 1 October 43,157,056 44,269,309

Principal repaid (9,072,448) (4,454,455)

Interest expense 5,538,665 5,859,938

Interest repaid (4,962,506) (2,956,046)

Foreign exchange losses 589,926 438,311

Closing balance 35,250,694 43,157,057

Repayments of principal for the syndicated loan commenced in March 2016. The loan is payable by February 2024.
There were no defaults on interest and capital repayments during the year (2020: None). The carrying amount of the bor-
rowings approximates to their fair values since the interest payable on the borrowings is close to current market rates.
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15. Borrowings (continued)

The effective interest rates for the borrowings were 17.33% for the Rwanda Francs borrowing and 8.4% for the US Dollars 
borrowing.

The syndicated loan is secured by the Company’s property, plant and equipment. The carrying amounts of assets pledged 
as security for current and non-current borrowings are:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Land 1,544,857 1,544,857

Buildings 1,862,785 1,940,637

Plant and equipment 72,321,003 76,727,264

75,728,645 80,212,758

The banks also hold a debenture over the Company’s business assets as collateral. The debenture expires in 2028.
Information on the applicable financial covenants is disclosed below.

Loan covenants

Under the terms of the syndicated loan described under clause 19.1 amended and restated, the Company is required to 
comply with the three financial covenants whose status is as follows as at 30 September 2021:

Threshold per loan covenants Status as at 30 Sep 2021 Conclusion

1. Debt service coverage ratio >1.2X
0.8 Debt Service Coverage Ratio is not within 

covenant threshold.

2. Net Debt to EBITDA
< 3.8x in FY19 and 3.0x in subse-

quent years
1.9 Net Debts/EBITDA ratio within covenant 

threshold

3. Interest cover ratio >1.5x
2.0 Interest Cover Ratio within covenant 

threshold

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Company obtained a waiver on the covenants up to 30 March 2022. While 
the Company was in breach of one of the covenants, this was not an event of default as per conditions within the agreement 
with the lenders.

In addition to the borrowings above, Bank of Kigali Plc had granted the Company the following facilities as at 30 September 
2021:

Type of facility Facility limit

Letter of credit USD 123,532

Letter of credit EUR 268,667

Bank guarantees Frw 162,743,741
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15. Borrowings (continued)
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16. Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the years presented.

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Cash and cash equivalents  14,288,649  13,330,241 

Borrowings (35,250,694) (43,157,056)

Lease liability (20,432) (31,725)

Net debt (20,982,477) (29,858,540)

Cash and cash equivalents  14,288,649  13,330,241 

Gross debt - fixed interest rates (24,048,886) (29,166,231

Gross debt - variable interest rates (11,222,240) (14,022,384)

Net debt (20,982,477) (29,858,540)

Borrowings Lease liability
Cash and 

equivalents
Total

As at 1 October 2019 (44,269,309) - 8,137,106 (36,132,203)

Cash flows 7,410,501 8,850 5,077,846 12,497,197

Acquisition - lease - (40,575) - (40,575)

Foreign exchange adjustments (438,310) - 115,290 (323,020)

Other changes (5,859,938) - (5,859,938)

At 30 September 2020 (43,157,056) (31,725) 13,330,241 (29,858,540)

Cash flows 14,034,954 11,293 1,346,436 15,392,683 

Foreign exchange adjustments (589,926) - (388,028) (977,954)

Other changes (5,538,665) - - (5,538,666)

At 30 September 2021 (35,250,694) (20,432) 14,288,648 (20,982,477)

Other changes include non-cash movements, including accrued interest expense which will be presented as financing cash 
flows in the statement of cash flows when paid.

17. Related party transactions

The Company’s immediate parent company is PPC International Holdings (Pty) Ltd and the ultimate parent company and 
controlling party is PPC Ltd, with both companies incorporated in South Africa. There are other companies that are related 
to CIMERWA PLC through common shareholdings or common directorships. The following transactions were carried out 
with related parties:

i) Government of Rwanda

On 30 September 2021, the Government of Rwanda, through Rwanda Social Security Board and Agaciro Development 
Fund held a minority shareholding in the Company of 37% which is unchanged from prior year. As a result, Government of 
Rwanda controlled bodies are related parties of the Company. The Company enters into transactions with many of these 
bodies. Transactions include the payment of taxes, principally corporate income tax, value added tax, withholding tax, em-
ployer pension contributions, and district mining levies. Directors have taken the exemption under IAS 24 not to disclose 
such transactions.
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ii) Key management compensation

Key management includes members of senior management. The compensation paid or payable to key management for 
employee services is shown below:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Salaries and wages 1,077,436 1,007,028

Contributions to Rwanda Social Security Board 43,972 43,868

1,121,408 1,050,896

iii) Directors’ remuneration

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Salaries and wages included with key management compensation above 536,134 326,792

Contributions to Rwanda Social Security Board 22,509 12,168

Sitting and other allowances 32,584 20,389

591,228 359,349

Remuneration per director for the directors who served during the year was as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Regis Rugemanshuro 6,743 3,448

Richard Tusabe - 2,054

Bhekizitha Wiseman Mthembu - 69,507

Albert Sigei Kipkemoi 353,967 269,454

Christian Rugeri 5,133 7,311

Nyirimihigo Jean Marie Vianney 8,477 7,575

Mokate Ramafoko - -

Chrissie Moloseni - -

Florida Kabasinga 1,514 -

Phindokuhle Mohlala - -

Eunice Nyala 4,159 -

Edward Okaro Omolo 4,159 -

Sternford Moyo 1,514 1,514

John Bugunya 204,676 -

591,228 359,349
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17. Related party transactions (continued)

iii) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

The unremunerated directors relate to directors appointed by the controlling party, PPC Ltd. They were remuneration by 
PPC Ltd for their services.

iv) Purchase of services from parent company

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Management and technical support fees  539,141  212,028 

Cost recoveries  328,801  129,308 

VAT reverse charge  194,715  76,576 

1,062,657 417,912

v) Purchase of goods and services

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Insurance premiums to SONARWA 295,610 355,004

Purchases of peat from Rwanda Energy Company Limited 470,488 552,397

766,098 907,401

Rwanda Energy Company Limited is a subsidiary of Rwanda Investment Group Limited (RIG), which is a shareholder of the 
Company.

vi) Other income

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Insurance refund from SONARWA (note 3) - 124,254 

vii) Amounts due from related parties arising from purchase of goods/services

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Amount due to SONARWA - 17,879

Amounts due to parent company 1,158,817 562,706

1,158,817 580,585

viii) Amounts due from related parties arising from purchase of goods/services

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

AGACIRO Development Fund (recoverable listing fees) 53,189 64,872

Rwanda Social Security Board (recoverable listing fees) 98,615 79,267

SONARWA Life Assurance Company Limited (recoverable listing fees) 3,582 2,879

Rwanda Investment Group Limited (recoverable listing fees) 55,874 44,912

211,260 191,930

The amounts due from related parties relate to Rwanda Stock Exchange listing fees which were paid by the Company and 
are reimbursable from the respective shareholders that floated their shares. The amounts due to and due from related par-
ties are interest and collateral free, and are payable on demand.
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17. Related party transactions (continued)

iii) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

The unremunerated directors relate to directors appointed by the controlling party, PPC Ltd. They were remuneration by 
PPC Ltd for their services.

iv) Purchase of services from parent company

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Management and technical support fees  539,141  212,028 

Cost recoveries  328,801  129,308 

VAT reverse charge  194,715  76,576 

1,062,657 417,912

v) Purchase of goods and services

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Insurance premiums to SONARWA 295,610 355,004

Purchases of peat from Rwanda Energy Company Limited 470,488 552,397

766,098 907,401

Rwanda Energy Company Limited is a subsidiary of Rwanda Investment Group Limited (RIG), which is a shareholder of the 
Company.

vi) Other income

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Insurance refund from SONARWA (note 3) - 124,254 

vii) Amounts due from related parties arising from purchase of goods/services

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Amount due to SONARWA - 17,879

Amounts due to parent company 1,158,817 562,706

1,158,817 580,585

viii) Amounts due from related parties arising from purchase of goods/services

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

AGACIRO Development Fund (recoverable listing fees) 53,189 64,872

Rwanda Social Security Board (recoverable listing fees) 98,615 79,267

SONARWA Life Assurance Company Limited (recoverable listing fees) 3,582 2,879

Rwanda Investment Group Limited (recoverable listing fees) 55,874 44,912

211,260 191,930

The amounts due from related parties relate to Rwanda Stock Exchange listing fees which were paid by the Company and 
are reimbursable from the respective shareholders that floated their shares. The amounts due to and due from related par-
ties are interest and collateral free, and are payable on demand.
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18. Decommissioning and rehabilitation provisions

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Provision for mine decommissioning 149,329 208,434

149,329 208,434

The movement in the provision is as follows:

At 1 October 208,434 293,398

Remeasurement impact during the year (78,973) (96,901)

Additions during the year - -

Unwinding of discount 19,868 11,937

149,329 208,434

Estimating the provision for mine decommissioning is complex as most of the obligations will only be fulfilled sometime 
in the future and the provisions are influenced by changing regulations and technologies, life of mine, and political, en-
vironmental, safety, business and statutory considerations in Rwanda. The Companies is required to restore mining and 
processing sites at the end of their productive lives to an acceptable condition consistent with local regulations and in line 
with Company policy.

Legislative requirements in Rwanda require the Company to issue a guarantee for environmental rehabilitation of the min-
ing site. The Company has secured the guarantee of Frw 8,710,000, which is disclosed as an environmental guarantee on 
the statement of financial position. This guarantee will be refunded to CIMERWA after performing required mines rehabilita-
tion at the end of mine life. The estimation of the costs to remediate the mining site and affected processing site as well as 
the determination of the other key inputs as disclosed in note 21 have been based, where possible, on external independent 
third-party information. The determination of the risk-free discount rate has been based, where available, on long dated 
government risk-free bond rates for securities issued in Rwanda, factoring in the life of the mine, for the purposes of deter-
mining the present value of the future estimated cash flows.

During the year, the directors reassessed the life of the mine. This increased by an additional 2 years as at 30 September 
2021.

19. Leases

This note provides information for leases where the Company is a lessee. For lessor activities, see note 3.

(i) Amounts shown in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts related to leases:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Right of use asset: Building 18,033 31,558

18,033 31,558

Lease liability:

Current 14,911 12,720

Non-current 5,521 19,006

20,432 31,726

Right of use asset

Building Cost:

At start of year 40,575

Additions - 40,575

At end of the year 40,575 40,575
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18. Decommissioning and rehabilitation provisions

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Provision for mine decommissioning 149,329 208,434

149,329 208,434

The movement in the provision is as follows:

At 1 October 208,434 293,398

Remeasurement impact during the year (78,973) (96,901)

Additions during the year - -

Unwinding of discount 19,868 11,937

149,329 208,434

Estimating the provision for mine decommissioning is complex as most of the obligations will only be fulfilled sometime 
in the future and the provisions are influenced by changing regulations and technologies, life of mine, and political, en-
vironmental, safety, business and statutory considerations in Rwanda. The Companies is required to restore mining and 
processing sites at the end of their productive lives to an acceptable condition consistent with local regulations and in line 
with Company policy.

Legislative requirements in Rwanda require the Company to issue a guarantee for environmental rehabilitation of the min-
ing site. The Company has secured the guarantee of Frw 8,710,000, which is disclosed as an environmental guarantee on 
the statement of financial position. This guarantee will be refunded to CIMERWA after performing required mines rehabilita-
tion at the end of mine life. The estimation of the costs to remediate the mining site and affected processing site as well as 
the determination of the other key inputs as disclosed in note 21 have been based, where possible, on external independent 
third-party information. The determination of the risk-free discount rate has been based, where available, on long dated 
government risk-free bond rates for securities issued in Rwanda, factoring in the life of the mine, for the purposes of deter-
mining the present value of the future estimated cash flows.

During the year, the directors reassessed the life of the mine. This increased by an additional 2 years as at 30 September 
2021.

19. Leases

This note provides information for leases where the Company is a lessee. For lessor activities, see note 3.

(i) Amounts shown in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts related to leases:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Right of use asset: Building 18,033 31,558

18,033 31,558

Lease liability:

Current 14,911 12,720

Non-current 5,521 19,006

20,432 31,726
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19. Leases (continued)

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

At start of year (9,017)

Charge for the year (13,525) (9,017)

At end of year (22,542) (9,017)

Net carrying value 18,033 31,558

ii) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Depreciation charge of right of use asset (building) 13,525 9,017 

Interest expense (included in finance costs) 4,398 3,988

17,923 13,005

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was Frw 13.6 million (2020: Frw 11.4 million) (including principal elements of lease 
payments of Frw 13.6 million (2020: Frw 7.4 million) and 4.8 million (2020: Frw 4 million) of interest expense).

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, acquisition of right of use assets are a non cash investing activity.

iii) The Company’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Company leases one residential building. The rental contract is fixed for one year but has extension options as de-
scribed in (v) below. The contract only contains lease components, and there are no non-lease components.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease 
agreement does not impose any covenants other than the interest in the leased asset that is held by the lessor. Leased as-
sets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net 
present value of the following lease payments:

•	 Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
•	 Variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the com-

mencement date and
•	 Amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the lia-
bility.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
which is generally the case for lease in the Company, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that 
the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company:

•	 where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect 
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received

•	 uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Company, 
which does not have recent third-party financing, and

•	 makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and security. 
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19. Leases (continued)

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Right of use asset

Building Cost:

At start of year 40,575

Additions - 40,575

At end of the year 40,575 40,575

Amortizations:

At start of year (9,017)

Charge for the year (13,525) (9,017)

At end of year (22,542) (9,017)

Net carrying value 18,033 31,558

ii) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Depreciation charge of right of use asset (building) 13,525 9,017 

Interest expense (included in finance costs) 4,398 3,988

17,923 13,005

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was Frw 13.6 million (2020: Frw 11.4 million) (including principal elements of lease 
payments of Frw 13.6 million (2020: Frw 7.4 million) and 4.8 million (2020: Frw 4 million) of interest expense). For the pur-
poses of the statement of cash flows, acquisition of right of use assets are a non cash investing activity.

iii) The Company’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Company leases one residential building. The rental contract is fixed for one year but has extension options as de-
scribed in (v) below. The contract only contains lease components, and there are no non-lease components.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease 
agreement does not impose any covenants other than the interest in the leased asset that is held by the lessor. Leased as-
sets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net 
present value of the following lease payments:

•	 Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
•	 Variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the com-

mencement date and
•	 Amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liabil-
ity. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
which is generally the case for lease in the Company, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that 
the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company:

•	 where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect 
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received
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19. Leases (continued) 

The Company is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not 
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take 
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
•	 any initial direct costs, and
•	 restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line 
basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
underlying asset’s useful life. The Company has chosen not to revalue the right-of-use building.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised 
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. 
Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and vehicles.

iii) Variable lease payments

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

iV) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in the lease. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of 
managing the assets used in the Company’s operations. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercis-
able only by the Company and not by the lessor.

v) Residual value guarantees

The Company has not provided any residual value guarantees on its lease.

20 (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management 

Market risk – foreign 
exchange

Future commercial transactions 
Recognized financial assets and lia-
bilities not denominated in Rwanda 
Francs

Cash flow fore-
casting
Sensitivity 
analysis

Holding foreign currency bank accounts 
which act as a natural hedge for foreign 
denominated purchases

Market risk – interest 
rate

Long term borrowings at variable 
and fixed rates

Sensitivity 
analysis

Entering into a combination of fixed and 
variable interest rate borrowings

Market risk – security 
prices

The Company does not hold any 
financial instrument subject to 
price risk

Not applicable Not applicable

Credit risk
Cash at bank
Trade and other receivables

Aging analysis
Diversification of bank deposits
Restriction of credit trading terms

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other liabilities
Rolling cash 
flow
forecasts

Availability of committed
credit lines and borrowing
facilities

Financial risks are managed by the finance department in accordance with policies set out by the Board of Directors.
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•	 uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Company, 
which does not have recent third-party financing, and

•	 makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and security. 

19. Leases (continued) 

The Company is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not 
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take 
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. Lease payments are allocated between 
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
•	 any initial direct costs, and
•	 restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line 
basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
underlying asset’s useful life. The Company has chosen not to revalue the right-of-use building.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised 
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. 
Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and vehicles.

iii) Variable lease payments

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

iV) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in the lease. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of 
managing the assets used in the Company’s operations. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercis-
able only by the Company and not by the lessor.

v) Residual value guarantees

The Company has not provided any residual value guarantees on its lease.

20 (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management 

Market risk – foreign 
exchange

Future commercial transactions 
Recognized financial assets and lia-
bilities not denominated in Rwanda 
Francs

Cash flow fore-
casting
Sensitivity 
analysis

Holding foreign currency bank accounts 
which act as a natural hedge for foreign 
denominated purchases

Market risk – interest 
rate

Long term borrowings at variable 
and fixed rates

Sensitivity 
analysis

Entering into a combination of fixed and 
variable interest rate borrowings

Market risk – security 
prices

The Company does not hold any 
financial instrument subject to 
price risk

Not applicable Not applicable

Credit risk
Cash at bank
Trade and other receivables

Aging analysis
Diversification of bank deposits
Restriction of credit trading terms

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other liabilities
Rolling cash 
flow
forecasts

Availability of committed
credit lines and borrowing
facilities

Financial risks are managed by the finance department in accordance with policies set out by the Board of Directors.



67

Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

Exposure

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in Rwanda francs, was as 
follows:

US Dollars:
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

Assets

Cash at bank and on hand 4,986,142 1,434,610

Trade receivables - -

4,986,142 1,434,610

US Dollars:
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

Liabilities:

Bank borrowings (11,328,540) (14,170,654)

Trade and other payables (742,594) (797,595)

(12,071,134) (14,968,249)

Net position (10,636,524) (13,533,639)

Sensitivity

At 30 September 2021, if the Rwandan Franc had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other vari-
ables remaining constant, post-tax profit or loss for the year would have been Frw 849 million (2020: Frw 1,082 million) 
lower/ higher, mainly as a result of US dollar denominated borrowings, trade payables and bank balances. 

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which exposes the Company 
to cash flow interest rate risk. The borrowings were specifically taken to finance the new cement plant construction and 
included a mix of variable and fixed interest rates to manage cash flow and fair value interest rate risk. During 2019, the 
Company’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in US Dollars.

The Company’s fixed rate borrowings and receivables are carried at amortized cost. They are therefore not subject to in-
terest rate risk as defined in IFRS 7, since neither the carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because of a 
change in market interest rates.

Included in the variable rate borrowings are 10-year floating-rate debts of Frw 24,048 million (2020 Frw 29,166 million) 
whose interest rate is based on 6-month USD LIBOR. These facilities are not hedged.

At 30 September, an increase / decrease of 100 basis points in the lending rate would have resulted in a decrease / increase 
in post-tax profit or loss by Frw 101,686,583 (2020: Frw 118,849,958).

The exposure of the Company’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual re-pricing dates of the borrowings 
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
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20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

Exposure

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in Rwanda francs, was as 
follows:

US Dollars:
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

Assets

Cash at bank and on hand 4,986,142 1,434,610

Trade receivables - -

4,986,142 1,434,610

US Dollars:
2021

Frw’000
2020

Frw’000

Liabilities:

Bank borrowings (11,328,540) (14,170,654)

Trade and other payables (742,594) (797,595)

(12,071,134) (14,968,249)

Net position (10,636,524) (13,533,639)

Sensitivity

At 30 September 2021, if the Rwandan Franc had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other vari-
ables remaining constant, post-tax profit or loss for the year would have been Frw 849 million (2020: Frw 1,082 million) 
lower/ higher, mainly as a result of US dollar denominated borrowings, trade payables and bank balances. 

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which exposes the Company 
to cash flow interest rate risk. The borrowings were specifically taken to finance the new cement plant construction and 
included a mix of variable and fixed interest rates to manage cash flow and fair value interest rate risk. During 2019, the 
Company’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in US Dollars.

The Company’s fixed rate borrowings and receivables are carried at amortized cost. They are therefore not subject to in-
terest rate risk as defined in IFRS 7, since neither the carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because of a 
change in market interest rates.

Included in the variable rate borrowings are 10-year floating-rate debts of Frw 24,048 million (2020 Frw 29,166 million) 
whose interest rate is based on 6-month USD LIBOR. These facilities are not hedged.

At 30 September, an increase / decrease of 100 basis points in the lending rate would have resulted in a decrease / increase 
in post-tax profit or loss by Frw 101,686,583 (2020: Frw 118,849,958).

The exposure of the Company’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual re-pricing dates of the borrowings 
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
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20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

2021
Frw’000

% of total 
loans

2020
Frw’000

% of total 
loans

Variable rate borrowings - USD 
LIBOR

(11,328,540) 32% 14,022,383 32%

Fixed rate borrowings - maturity 
dates

5,243,860 (797,595)

Less than 1 year 6,987,741 20% 23,742,542 15 %

1 - 5 years 16,934,414 48% 2 67 %

35,250,694 100% 43,157,056 100%

An analysis by maturities is provided under liquidity risk below. The percentage of total loans shows the proportion of loans 
that are currently at variable rates in relation to the total amount of borrowings.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a Company basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks, as 
well as trade and other receivables. The Company does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk. The Company 
credit controller assesses the credit quality of each customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and 
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board. 
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

(i) Risk Management 

The Company has policies in place to ensure that contracts are entered into with customers with appropriate credit history 
and that its financial interests are contractually safeguarded at the time of engagement.
Balances are reviewed monthly and appropriate follow up is carried out by the credit control unit, Finance Director, Com-
mercial and eventually escalated to the Executive management for possible dunning or legal action.

(ii) Security

For some trade receivables the Company may obtain security in the form of bank guarantees, letters of credit which can be 
called upon if the counterparty is in default under the terms of the agreement.

(iii) Impairment of financial assets

The amount that best represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 September is made up as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Cash at bank 14,288,649 13,329,631

Trade receivables 1,499,635 3,532,855

Amounts due from related parties 211,260 191,930

Other receivables 19,280 10,313

16,018,824 17,064,729
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20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

2021
Frw’000

% of total 
loans

2020
Frw’000

% of total 
loans

Variable rate borrowings - USD 
LIBOR

(11,328,540) 32% 14,022,383 32%

Fixed rate borrowings - maturity 
dates

5,243,860 (797,595)

Less than 1 year 6,987,741 20% 23,742,542 15 %

1 - 5 years 16,934,414 48% 2 67 %

35,250,694 100% 43,157,056 100%

An analysis by maturities is provided under liquidity risk below. The percentage of total loans shows the proportion of loans 
that are currently at variable rates in relation to the total amount of borrowings.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a Company basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks, as 
well as trade and other receivables. The Company does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk. The Company 
credit controller assesses the credit quality of each customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and 
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board. 
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

(i) Risk Management 

The Company has policies in place to ensure that contracts are entered into with customers with appropriate credit history 
and that its financial interests are contractually safeguarded at the time of engagement.
Balances are reviewed monthly and appropriate follow up is carried out by the credit control unit, Finance Director, Com-
mercial and eventually escalated to the Executive management for possible dunning or legal action.

(ii) Security

For some trade receivables the Company may obtain security in the form of bank guarantees, letters of credit which can be 
called upon if the counterparty is in default under the terms of the agreement.

(iii) Impairment of financial assets

The amount that best represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 September is made up as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Cash at bank 14,288,649 13,329,631

Trade receivables 1,499,635 3,532,855

Amounts due from related parties 211,260 191,930

Other receivables 19,280 10,313

16,018,824 17,064,729
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20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company has applied an average probability of default of 0.34% to the bank balances as at 30 September to determine 
the impairment loss disclosed under note (11). 

Trade receivables

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been analysed based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. During the year, the directors have refined the analysis of trade 
receivables into the following sectors:
•	 Government and related entities
•	 Construction companies
•	 Distributors
•	 Others

Therefore, probabilities of default have been developed at this level for 2021 and 2020. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 24 months from October 2018 to 
September 2021 and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are 
adjusted to reflect forward looking information to the extent that there is a strong correlation between the forward-looking 
information and the expected credit losses. The Company has identified GDP, inflation rate and unemployment rate of the 
country in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss 
rates based on expected changes in these factors.

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 60 
days past due

More than 90 
days past due

More than 120 
days past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

33,653 12,248 - 173,582 259,251 478,734

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

- - - 164,176 213,935 378,111

Net receivables 33,653 12,248 - 9,406 45,316 100,623

Expected loss rate 6.58% 9.98% 13.30% 100% 100%

Loss allowance 
(Frw‘000)

3,798 2,008 - 9,406 45,316 60,528

30 september 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Distributors (Frw‘000)

172,430 18,760 - - 26,966 218,157

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

Net receivables - - - - 26,966 26,966

Expected loss rate 2.16% 6.20% 12.57% 100% 100%

Loss allowance
(Frw’000)

- - - - 26,966 26,966
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company has applied an average probability of default of 0.34% to the bank balances as at 30 September to determine 
the impairment loss disclosed under note (11). 

Trade receivables

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been analysed based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. During the year, the directors have refined the analysis of trade 
receivables into the following sectors:
•	 Government and related entities
•	 Construction companies
•	 Distributors
•	 Others

Therefore, probabilities of default have been developed at this level for 2021 and 2020. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 24 months from October 2018 to 
September 2021 and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are 
adjusted to reflect forward looking information to the extent that there is a strong correlation between the forward-looking 
information and the expected credit losses. The Company has identified GDP, inflation rate and unemployment rate of the 
country in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss 
rates based on expected changes in these factors.

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 60 
days past due

More than 90 
days past due

More than 120 
days past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

33,653 12,248 - 173,582 259,251 478,734

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

- - - 164,176 213,935 378,111

Net receivables 33,653 12,248 - 9,406 45,316 100,623

Expected loss rate 6.58% 9.98% 13.30% 100% 100%

Loss allowance 
(Frw‘000)

3,798 2,008 - 9,406 45,316 60,528

30 september 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Distributors (Frw‘000)

172,430 18,760 - - 26,966 218,157

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

Net receivables - - - - 26,966 26,966

Expected loss rate 2.16% 6.20% 12.57% 100% 100%

Loss allowance
(Frw’000)

- - - - 26,966 26,966
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

 440,578 408,851  1,042  43,716 267,655 1,161,842

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 (355,233)  (235,623) -  (30,416)  (68,390) (689,663)

Net receivables  85,345  173,228  1,042  13,300  199,265  472,180 

Expected loss rate 4.37% 7.18% 12.76% 100% 100%

Loss allowance 
(Frw‘000)

 9,631  30,846  304  13,300 199,265 253,346

The analysis above excludes customers for whom specific provisions were made. These are as follows:

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

 - - - - 117,316 117,316

Specific provisions 
made

 - - - - 117,316 117,316

Net receivables after 
specific provisions 
(Frw’000)

- - - - - -

During the period ended 30 September 2021, the only specific provision made related to prepayments not recovered from 
suppliers amounting to Frw 90 million and specific provision relating to credit sales to customers amounting to Frw 117 
million.

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

1,079,062 1,973,044 5,950 - 9 3,058,065

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 - - - - - -

Net receivables 1,079,062 1,973,044 5,950 - 9 3,058,065

Loss allowance 4,162 27,739 297 - 9 32,206
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

 440,578 408,851  1,042  43,716 267,655 1,161,842

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 (355,233)  (235,623) -  (30,416)  (68,390) (689,663)

Net receivables  85,345  173,228  1,042  13,300  199,265  472,180 

Expected loss rate 4.37% 7.18% 12.76% 100% 100%

Loss allowance 
(Frw‘000)

 9,631  30,846  304  13,300 199,265 253,346

The analysis above excludes customers for whom specific provisions were made. These are as follows:

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

 - - - - 117,316 117,316

Specific provisions 
made

 - - - - 117,316 117,316

Net receivables after 
specific provisions 
(Frw’000)

- - - - - -

During the period ended 30 September 2021, the only specific provision made related to prepayments not recovered from 
suppliers amounting to Frw 90 million and specific provision relating to credit sales to customers amounting to Frw 117 
million.

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

1,079,062 1,973,044 5,950 - 9 3,058,065

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 - - - - - -

Net receivables 1,079,062 1,973,044 5,950 - 9 3,058,065

Expected loss rate 0.39% 1.41% 4.99% 14.54% 100%

Loss allowance 4,162 27,739 297 - 9 32,206
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Credit risk (continued)

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

1,079,062 1,973,044 5,950 - 9 3,058,065

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 - - - - - -

Net receivables 1,079,062 1,973,044 5,950 - 9 3,058,065

Loss allowance 4,162 27,739 297 - 9 32,206

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021   

Gross carrying amount 
– Distributors (Frw‘000)

 88,318  54,167  42,630 -  43,073 228,188 

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 (56,150) (48,478)  (42,630) - - (147,258)

Net receivables  32,169  5,689  -    43,073

Expected loss rate 3.82% 6.63% 23.11% 100% 100% 80,930

Loss allowance 
(Frw‘000)

1,228  377  - 1,605

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2020   

Gross carrying amount 
– Distributors (Frw‘000)

- 1,322 - -  43,073 2,522 

Less customers with 
bank guarantees - - - - - -

Net receivables - 1,322  -    43,073

Expected loss rate 17.90% 18.39% 23.11% 100% 100%  2,522 

Loss allowance 
(Frw‘000)

-  243  - -  1,200 1,443 
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Credit risk (continued)

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

1,079,062 1,973,044 5,950 - 9 3,058,065

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 - - - - - -

Net receivables 1,079,062 1,973,044 5,950 - 9 3,058,065

Loss allowance 4,162 27,739 297 - 9 32,206

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021   

Gross carrying amount 
– Distributors (Frw‘000)

 88,318  54,167  42,630 -  43,073 228,188 

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 (56,150) (48,478)  (42,630) - - (147,258)

Net receivables  32,169  5,689  -    43,073

Expected loss rate 3.82% 6.63% 23.11% 100% 100% 80,930

Loss allowance 
(Frw‘000)

1,228  377  - 1,605

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2020   

Gross carrying amount 
– Distributors (Frw‘000)

- 1,322 - -  43,073 2,522 

Less customers with 
bank guarantees - - - - - -

Net receivables - 1,322  -    43,073

Expected loss rate 17.90% 18.39% 23.11% 100% 100%  2,522 

Loss allowance 
(Frw‘000)

-  243  - -  1,200 1,443 
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Credit risk (continued)

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2020

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

 215,285  27,461  61,811  64,709  307,160  676,427 

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 (92,931)  (5,636)  (11,271)  -    -   (109,838)

Net receivables  122,354  21,825  50,540  64,709  307,160  566,589 

Expected loss rate 8.25% 12.40% 26.05% 100% 100%

Low allowance (Frw, 
000)

 17,755  3,404  16,103  64,709  132,379  234,351

The above ECL provisions are summarized as below:

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 646,661 439,859 1,042 217,299 553,275 1,858,135

Provisions made  (13,428)  (32,854)  (304)  (22,706)  (271,547) (340,840)

Net receivables after 
provisions

633,232 407,005 738 194,593 281,727 1,517,295

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at each period end reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Opening loss allowance as at 1 October 432,320 371,847

Net loss allowance during the year (note 10) (91,480) 60,474

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible - -

340,840 432,320

Trade and other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the 
Company, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 120 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subse-

quent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Credit risk (continued)

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2020

Gross carrying amount 
– Government and relat-
ed entities (Frw‘000)

 215,285  27,461  61,811  64,709  307,160  676,427 

Less customers with 
bank guarantees

 (92,931)  (5,636)  (11,271)  -    -   (109,838)

Net receivables  122,354  21,825  50,540  64,709  307,160  566,589 

Expected loss rate 8.25% 12.40% 26.05% 100% 100%

Low allowance (Frw, 
000)

 17,755  3,404  16,103  64,709  132,379  234,351

The above ECL provisions are summarized as below:

Current
More than 30 
days past due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
120 days 
past due

Total

30 September 2021

Gross carrying amount 646,661 439,859 1,042 217,299 553,275 1,858,135

Provisions made  (13,428)  (32,854)  (304)  (22,706)  (271,547) (340,840)

Net receivables after 
provisions

633,232 407,005 738 194,593 281,727 1,517,295

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at each period end reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Opening loss allowance as at 1 October 432,320 371,847

Net loss allowance during the year (note 10) (91,480) 60,474

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible - -

340,840 432,320

Trade and other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the 
Company, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 120 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subse-

quent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  Prudent liquidity 
risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash balances, and the availability of funding from an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities.  The finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under com-
mitted credit lines.

Management perform cash flow forecasting and monitor rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity requirements to en-
sure it has sufficient cash to meet its operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities at all times so that the Company does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where applicable) on 
any of its borrowing facilities and proactively managing positions where there is a breach.  The Company’s approach when 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity group-
ings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carry-
ing balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than 1 
year 

Frw’ 000

2-3 years
Frw’ 000

4-5 years
Frw’ 000

More than 
5 years 

Frw’ 000

Total
Frw’ 000

30 September 2021

Trade payables 3,717,443 - - - 3,717,443

Amounts due to plant contractors 102,272 - - - 102,272

Customer deposits 918,138 - - - 918,138

Other payables 1,921,514 - - - 1,921,514

Lease obligations 20,432 - - - 20,432 

Due to related parties 1,158,817 - - - 1,158,817

Interest bearing borrowings 14,643,557 28,066,817 - - 42,710,374

22,482,173 28,066,817 - - 50,548,990

Less than 
1 year Frw’ 

000

2-3 years
Frw’ 000

4-5 years
Frw’ 000

More than 
5 years 

Frw’ 000

Total
Frw’ 000

30 September 2020

Trade payables  4,360,453 - - -  4,360,453

Amounts due to plant contractors  216,329 - - -  216,329 

Customer deposits  3,408,296 - - -  3,408,296 

Other payables   485,310 - - -   485,310

Lease obligations 15,692 16,034 - - 31,725

Due to related parties 580,585 - - - 580,585

Interest bearing borrowings 13,768,324 28,845,065 14,067,783 - 56,681,172

22,834,989 28,861,099 14,067,783 - 65,763,871
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  Prudent liquidity 
risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash balances, and the availability of funding from an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities.  The finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under com-
mitted credit lines.

Management perform cash flow forecasting and monitor rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity requirements to en-
sure it has sufficient cash to meet its operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities at all times so that the Company does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where applicable) on 
any of its borrowing facilities and proactively managing positions where there is a breach.  The Company’s approach when 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity group-
ings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carry-
ing balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than 1 
year 

Frw’ 000

2-3 years
Frw’ 000

4-5 years
Frw’ 000

More than 
5 years 

Frw’ 000

Total
Frw’ 000

30 September 2021

Trade payables 3,717,443 - - - 3,717,443

Amounts due to plant contractors 102,272 - - - 102,272

Customer deposits 918,138 - - - 918,138

Other payables 1,921,514 - - - 1,921,514

Lease obligations 20,432 - - - 20,432 

Due to related parties 1,158,817 - - - 1,158,817

Interest bearing borrowings 14,643,557 28,066,817 - - 42,710,374

22,482,173 28,066,817 - - 50,548,990

Less than 
1 year Frw’ 

000

2-3 years
Frw’ 000

4-5 years
Frw’ 000

More than 
5 years 

Frw’ 000

Total
Frw’ 000

30 September 2020

Trade payables  4,360,453 - - -  4,360,453

Amounts due to plant contractors  216,329 - - -  216,329 

Customer deposits  3,408,296 - - -  3,408,296 

Other payables   485,310 - - -   485,310

Lease obligations 15,692 16,034 - - 31,725

Due to related parties 580,585 - - - 580,585

Interest bearing borrowings 13,768,324 28,845,065 14,067,783 - 56,681,172

22,834,989 28,861,099 14,067,783 - 65,763,871
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Capital risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order 
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may limit the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new 
shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 17, cash and cash 
equivalents as disclosed in note 11, and equity attributable to shareholders, comprising stated capital, reserves and retained 
earnings.

Capital risk management is carried out in accordance with the Company’s policy. A committee that include the Parent com-
pany’s senior financial executives reviews the capital structure of the Company on a quarterly basis. As part of this review, 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital are considered. Based on recommendations of the 
committee, the Company balances its overall capital structure through issues of equity instruments, dividend cover reviews, 
and the issue of new debt or redemption of existing debt.

During the year, the Company’s strategy, which remained unchanged from 2020, was to maintain a gearing ratio within 50 
to 65%. The gearing ratios at 30 September 2021 and 30 September 2020 were as follows:

2021
Frw ‘000

2020
Frw’000

Net debt 20,982,477 29,858,540

Total equity 61,669,306 57,579,340

Net debt to equity ratio 34% 52%

20. (b) Financial instruments by category

Financial assets at amortised cost 

2021
Frw ‘000

2020
Frw’000

Environmental guarantee 8,710 8,710

Trade receivables 1,499,635 3,532,855

Advances to related parties 211,260 191,930

Other receivables 19,280 10,313

Cash at bank 14,288,649 13,329,631

16,025347, 17,073,439

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Trade payables  3,717,443  4,360,453

Amounts due to plant contractors  102,272  216,329 

Customer deposits  918,138  3,408,296 

Other payables  1,426,216 72,138

Intercompany payables 1,158,817 580,585

Borrowings 35,250,694 43,157,057

Lease liability  20,432 31,725

42,594,012 51,826,583
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Notes (continued)

20. (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Capital risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order 
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may limit the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new 
shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 17, cash and cash 
equivalents as disclosed in note 11, and equity attributable to shareholders, comprising stated capital, reserves and retained 
earnings.

Capital risk management is carried out in accordance with the Company’s policy. A committee that include the Parent com-
pany’s senior financial executives reviews the capital structure of the Company on a quarterly basis. As part of this review, 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital are considered. Based on recommendations of the 
committee, the Company balances its overall capital structure through issues of equity instruments, dividend cover reviews, 
and the issue of new debt or redemption of existing debt.

During the year, the Company’s strategy, which remained unchanged from 2020, was to maintain a gearing ratio within 50 
to 65%. The gearing ratios at 30 September 2021 and 30 September 2020 were as follows:

2021
Frw ‘000

2020
Frw’000

Net debt 20,982,477 29,858,540

Total equity 61,669,306 57,579,340

Net debt to equity ratio 34% 52%

20. (b) Financial instruments by category

Financial assets at amortised cost 

2021
Frw ‘000

2020
Frw’000

Environmental guarantee 8,710 8,710

Trade receivables 1,499,635 3,532,855

Advances to related parties 211,260 191,930

Other receivables 19,280 10,313

Cash at bank 14,288,649 13,329,631

16,025347, 17,073,439

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Trade payables  3,717,443  4,360,453

Amounts due to plant contractors  102,272  216,329 

Customer deposits  918,138  3,408,296 

Other payables  1,426,216 72,138

Intercompany payables 1,158,817 580,585

Borrowings 35,250,694 43,157,057

Lease liability  20,432 31,725

42,594,012 51,826,583



75

Notes (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

For the majority of the borrowings and payables, the fair values are not materially different to their carrying amounts, since 
the interest payable on those liabilities is either close to current market rates or the borrowings are of a short-term nature. 
For trade receivables these are short term in nature and fair values approximate carrying values.

The borrowing cost of the USD portion of the syndicated loan is carried at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 7.25% which is the 
market rate while the FRW portion is based on interest rate of 16% which is within range of industry average rate of 16.5% 
for corporate loans and hence approximates the fair value.

Carrying 
amount

Frw’ 000

2021 
Fair value 
Frw’ 000

Carrying 
amount

Frw’ 000

2020
Fair value
Frw’ 000

Borrowings (USD portion) 11,222,240 11,222,240 14,022,384 13,818,995 

Borrowings (FRW portion) 24,028,454 24,028,454 29,134,673 26,361,876

35,250,694 35,250,694 43,157,057 40,180,871

21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the 
actual results. Directors also need to exercise judgement in applying the Company’s accounting policies.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which 
are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be wrong. Detailed information 
about each of these estimates and judgements is included in other notes together with information about the basis of cal-
culation for each affected line item in the financial statements. 

i) Deferred income tax asset

Deferred income tax asset relating to unused tax loss carry-forwards and to deductible temporary differences are rec-
ognised if it is probable that they can be offset against future taxable profits or existing temporary differences. As at 30 
September 2021, the Company had recognised deferred income tax assets on tax loss carry-forwards and other temporary 
differences totalling Frw 4,449 million (2020: Frw 6,259 million) arising from substantial investment allowances under the 
Rwandan Investment Code. This followed completion of the construction of a new cement plant in 2015. These losses were 
due to expire in 2020. 

The directors took advantage of the provisions of the Income tax act enacted in April 2018 and the accompanying ministe-
rial order No 006/19/TC of 29/04/2019 gazette No 18 of 6/05/2019 (the “Ministerial Order”) that allows companies to seek 
for an extension to carry forward tax losses beyond the five-year statutory period. Based on this, an application was made 
and granted by the Rwanda Revenue Authority for extension on the utilisation of the tax losses for a two-year period to 30 
September 2022. The Ministerial order also allows for an extension of a further 3 years on expiry of the current two-year ex-
tension period that the directors have been granted. The directors expect to recover the tax losses by September 2023, and 
an extension to the expiry period is expected to be granted since the Company is still in compliance with the requirements 
of the Ministerial Order to seek further extension.
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Fair value of financial instruments

For the majority of the borrowings and payables, the fair values are not materially different to their carrying amounts, since 
the interest payable on those liabilities is either close to current market rates or the borrowings are of a short-term nature. 
For trade receivables these are short term in nature and fair values approximate carrying values.

The borrowing cost of the USD portion of the syndicated loan is carried at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 7.25% which is the 
market rate while the FRW portion is based on interest rate of 16% which is within range of industry average rate of 16.5% 
for corporate loans and hence approximates the fair value.

Carrying 
amount

Frw’ 000

2021 
Fair value 
Frw’ 000

Carrying 
amount

Frw’ 000

2020
Fair value
Frw’ 000

Borrowings (USD portion) 11,222,240 11,222,240 14,022,384 13,818,995 

Borrowings (FRW portion) 24,028,454 24,028,454 29,134,673 26,361,876

35,250,694 35,250,694 43,157,057 40,180,871

21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the 
actual results. Directors also need to exercise judgement in applying the Company’s accounting policies.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which 
are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be wrong. Detailed information 
about each of these estimates and judgements is included in other notes together with information about the basis of cal-
culation for each affected line item in the financial statements. 

i) Deferred income tax asset

Deferred income tax asset relating to unused tax loss carry-forwards and to deductible temporary differences are rec-
ognised if it is probable that they can be offset against future taxable profits or existing temporary differences. As at 30 
September 2021, the Company had recognised deferred income tax assets on tax loss carry-forwards and other temporary 
differences totalling Frw 4,449 million (2020: Frw 6,259 million) arising from substantial investment allowances under the 
Rwandan Investment Code. This followed completion of the construction of a new cement plant in 2015. These losses were 
due to expire in 2020. 

The directors took advantage of the provisions of the Income tax act enacted in April 2018 and the accompanying ministe-
rial order No 006/19/TC of 29/04/2019 gazette No 18 of 6/05/2019 (the “Ministerial Order”) that allows companies to seek 
for an extension to carry forward tax losses beyond the five-year statutory period. Based on this, an application was made 
and granted by the Rwanda Revenue Authority for extension on the utilisation of the tax losses for a two-year period to 30 
September 2022. The Ministerial order also allows for an extension of a further 3 years on expiry of the current two-year ex-
tension period that the directors have been granted. The directors expect to recover the tax losses by September 2023, and 
an extension to the expiry period is expected to be granted since the Company is still in compliance with the requirements 
of the Ministerial Order to seek further extension.
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21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

ii) Deferred income tax asset(continued)

Significant assumptions made by the directors include the following:

•	 No dividend will be paid over the extension period, being one of the conditionalities set out under the Ministerial Order 
for an extension to be granted.

•	 Planned plant efficiency improvements are expected to result in production capacity exceeding the current year pro-
duction capacity of 450,000 tonnes, with projections for 2022 at 466,000 tonnes and 530,000 tonnes in 2023.

•	 There will be continued sufficient demand on the market to assimilate the projected production volumes over the next 
2 years.

Sensitivity analysis

If a dividend was to be paid out over the extension period, any unutilised income tax losses would immediately be forfeited 
at that point.

If planned plant efficiency improvements were not met, and sales / plant capacity was limited to the current 429,000 
tonnes for each of the next two years, deferred income tax assets worth Frw 1.9 billion would be impaired over the 2 year 
period. Over an assumed 4 year period (i.e assuming a further 3 year extension period is granted), the Company has head-
room of Frw 1.5 billion. This means that sufficient taxable profits would be generated over the 4 year period, and corporate 
income tax would be payable on the Frw 1.5 billion in 2025.

If the directors’ projected sales volumes of 530,000 and 550,000 tonnes in 2022 and 2023 were to fall below expectation 
by 10%, the recognised deferred income tax asset would be impaired by Frw 1.7 billion over the two year extension period. 
However, if directors seek a further three-year extension to 30 September 2025, then head room of Frw 5.1 billion would be 
available. This means that sufficient taxable profits would be generated over the 3 year period.

iii) Carrying value of property, plant and equipment

At 30 September 2021, the Company’s net investment in property, plant and equipment amounted to Frw 76,924 million 
(2020: Frw 81,360 million), details of which are set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

There has been no change in the nature of the property, plant and equipment or to the policies relating to the use thereof 
during the year.

Impairment assessments of individual material assets, especially the cement plant, were
undertaken for the 2021 financial year. The Company has been considered as one cash generating unit for the purposes of 
the impairment review. The directors have made the following significant assumptions in assessing the expected cash flows 
to be generated by the cement plant over the next 15 years:

•	 Limestone reserves of 7.2 megatons, resulting in an estimated remaining life of mine of 16 years based on estimated 
average 0.45 megatons of limestone mined per annum;

•	 Weighted average cost of capital of 15.71%;
•	 Expected sales volumes growth of 14% per annum;
•	 Expected cost inflation of 5% per annum.
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21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

ii) Deferred income tax asset(continued)

Significant assumptions made by the directors include the following:

•	 No dividend will be paid over the extension period, being one of the conditionalities set out under the Ministerial Order 
for an extension to be granted.

•	 Planned plant efficiency improvements are expected to result in production capacity exceeding the current year pro-
duction capacity of 450,000 tonnes, with projections for 2022 at 466,000 tonnes and 530,000 tonnes in 2023.

•	 There will be continued sufficient demand on the market to assimilate the projected production volumes over the next 
2 years.

Sensitivity analysis

If a dividend was to be paid out over the extension period, any unutilised income tax losses would immediately be forfeited 
at that point.

If planned plant efficiency improvements were not met, and sales / plant capacity was limited to the current 429,000 
tonnes for each of the next two years, deferred income tax assets worth Frw 1.9 billion would be impaired over the 2 year 
period. Over an assumed 4 year period (i.e assuming a further 3 year extension period is granted), the Company has head-
room of Frw 1.5 billion. This means that sufficient taxable profits would be generated over the 4 year period, and corporate 
income tax would be payable on the Frw 1.5 billion in 2025.

If the directors’ projected sales volumes of 530,000 and 550,000 tonnes in 2022 and 2023 were to fall below expectation 
by 10%, the recognised deferred income tax asset would be impaired by Frw 1.7 billion over the two year extension period. 
However, if directors seek a further three-year extension to 30 September 2025, then head room of Frw 5.1 billion would be 
available. This means that sufficient taxable profits would be generated over the 3 year period.

iii) Carrying value of property, plant and equipment

At 30 September 2021, the Company’s net investment in property, plant and equipment amounted to Frw 76,924 million 
(2020: Frw 81,360 million), details of which are set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

There has been no change in the nature of the property, plant and equipment or to the policies relating to the use thereof 
during the year.

Impairment assessments of individual material assets, especially the cement plant, were
undertaken for the 2021 financial year. The Company has been considered as one cash generating unit for the purposes of 
the impairment review. The directors have made the following significant assumptions in assessing the expected cash flows 
to be generated by the cement plant over the next 15 years:

•	 Limestone reserves of 7.2 megatons, resulting in an estimated remaining life of mine of 16 years based on estimated 
average 0.45 megatons of limestone mined per annum;

•	 Weighted average cost of capital of 15.71%;
•	 Expected sales volumes growth of 14% per annum;
•	 Expected cost inflation of 5% per annum.
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21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated limestone reserves were higher/lower by 100,000 tonnes, holding all other factors constant, there would be 
no impairment provision recognised to the profit or loss account. If the weighted average cost of capital was higher/lower 
by 1%, holding all other factors constant, there would be no impairment provision recognised to income statement.

If the expected sales volume growth was 500 basis points higher, holding all other factors constant, there would be no 
impairment provision recognised to income statement. If the expected sales volume growth was 500 basis points lower, 
holding all other factors constant, there would be no impairment provision recognised to income statement.

If the expected cost inflation was 500 basis points higher, holding all other factors constant, the impairment provision rec-
ognised to the income statement would be Frw 25 billion.

(iv) Decommissioning and rehabilitation provisions

As part of the identification and measurement of assets and liabilities, the Company has recognized a provision for envi-
ronmental obligations associated with the limestone quarry. In determining the carrying value of the provision, assumptions 
and estimates are made in relation to revision of discount rates,
updated environmental cost estimates, changes to lives of operations, new disturbances and the expected timing of those 
costs. Estimating the future costs of these obligations is complex as most of the obligations will only be fufilled in the fu-
ture. Furthermore, the resulting provisions and assets are influenced by changing technology and regulations, life of mine, 
environmental, safety, business and statutory considerations. Refer note 18 for the carrying amount of the decommissioning 
provision. Significant estimates made by the directors include;

•	 Inflation rate of 5%
•	 Risk free discount rate of 12.48%
•	 Remaining life of mine of 16 years

The estimation of the costs to remedy the mining quarry have been based on external consultants hired by the Company 
to carry out an estimate of these costs. The risk free rate was obtained by using the National Bank of Rwanda yield curve 
for  long term government bonds. 

If the inflation rate was higher/lower by 1%, holding all other factors constant, the provision recognised in the balance sheet 
would be higher/lower by Frw 25 million and Frw 22 million respectively, and the related interest expense due to the un-
winding of the discount would be higher/lower by Frw 1.9 million.

If the risk free discount rate was higher/lower by 1%, holding all other factors constant, the provision recognised in the bal-
ance sheet would be lower/higher by Frw 19 million and Frw 22 million respectively, and the related interest expense due to 
the unwinding of the discount would be lower/higher by Frw 0.34 million.
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21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated limestone reserves were higher/lower by 100,000 tonnes, holding all other factors constant, there would be 
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If the expected sales volume growth was 500 basis points higher, holding all other factors constant, there would be no 
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and estimates are made in relation to revision of discount rates,
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ture. Furthermore, the resulting provisions and assets are influenced by changing technology and regulations, life of mine, 
environmental, safety, business and statutory considerations. Refer note 18 for the carrying amount of the decommissioning 
provision. Significant estimates made by the directors include;

•	 Inflation rate of 5%
•	 Risk free discount rate of 12.48%
•	 Remaining life of mine of 16 years

The estimation of the costs to remedy the mining quarry have been based on external consultants hired by the Company 
to carry out an estimate of these costs. The risk free rate was obtained by using the National Bank of Rwanda yield curve 
for  long term government bonds. 

If the inflation rate was higher/lower by 1%, holding all other factors constant, the provision recognised in the balance sheet 
would be higher/lower by Frw 25 million and Frw 22 million respectively, and the related interest expense due to the un-
winding of the discount would be higher/lower by Frw 1.9 million.

If the risk free discount rate was higher/lower by 1%, holding all other factors constant, the provision recognised in the bal-
ance sheet would be lower/higher by Frw 19 million and Frw 22 million respectively, and the related interest expense due to 
the unwinding of the discount would be lower/higher by Frw 0.34 million.
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21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

(iv) Decommissioning and rehabilitation provisions (continued)

If the life of mine was higher/lower by one (1) year, holding all other factors constant, the provision recognised in the balance 
sheet would be lower/higher by Frw 10 million, and the related interest expense due to the unwinding of the discount would 
be lower/higher by Frw 0.35 million. Additionally, local environmental regulations require the Company to issue a guarantee 
for environmental rehabilitation. The Company deposited a guarantee of Frw 8.7 million to FONERWA Rwanda Green Fund 
in 2019 to meet this requirement.

v) Expected credit losses on financial assets

IFRS 9 requires impairments to be determined based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model for financial assets carried 
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The Company recognises an allowance for either 
12-month or lifetime ECLs, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Company mea-
sures the ECLs in a manner which reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and the entity’s best 
available forward looking information. The preceding probability-weighted outcome considers the possibility that a credit 
loss will occur and the possibility that no credit loss will occur, no matter how low the probability of credit loss occurrence 
might be.

The ECL model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost. For trade receivables, the Company applies the 
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition 
of the receivables. Refer to credit risk management under note 20 above for further details.

vi) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

The Directors determine the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment 
(“PPE”). Items of PPE are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values where appropriate. The 
actual lives of the assets are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, 
factors such as technological advancements, product lifecycles, life of mine and maintenance programmes are taken into 
account.

The residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining useful life of the asset and 
projected disposal values. The Company has not made any material adjustments to the residual values in the current year.

In line with the requirements of IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment, it is Company policy that the useful life of the assets 
be reviewed annually. The Company has reviewed the useful lives of assets regularly and during this financial year the Com-
pany has continued using some of the fully depreciated assets. IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates 
and errors requires that a change in useful life be applied to the carrying amount which must then be depreciated over the 
new useful life. As the carrying amount of these assets is zero and the group’s policy is to account for PPE using the cost 
model, both the cost and accumulated depreciation remain in the fixed asset register until the Company discontinues the 
use of the assets and a decision to scrap them has been taken. At that time they will be derecognised from the fixed assets 
register. Directors will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will 
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. 
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21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

(iv) Decommissioning and rehabilitation provisions (continued)

If the life of mine was higher/lower by one (1) year, holding all other factors constant, the provision recognised in the balance 
sheet would be lower/higher by Frw 10 million, and the related interest expense due to the unwinding of the discount would 
be lower/higher by Frw 0.35 million. Additionally, local environmental regulations require the Company to issue a guarantee 
for environmental rehabilitation. The Company deposited a guarantee of Frw 8.7 million to FONERWA Rwanda Green Fund 
in 2019 to meet this requirement.

v) Expected credit losses on financial assets

IFRS 9 requires impairments to be determined based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model for financial assets carried 
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The Company recognises an allowance for either 
12-month or lifetime ECLs, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Company mea-
sures the ECLs in a manner which reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and the entity’s best 
available forward looking information. The preceding probability-weighted outcome considers the possibility that a credit 
loss will occur and the possibility that no credit loss will occur, no matter how low the probability of credit loss occurrence 
might be.

The ECL model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost. For trade receivables, the Company applies the 
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition 
of the receivables. Refer to credit risk management under note 20 above for further details.

vi) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

The Directors determine the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment 
(“PPE”). Items of PPE are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values where appropriate. The 
actual lives of the assets are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, 
factors such as technological advancements, product lifecycles, life of mine and maintenance programmes are taken into 
account.

The residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining useful life of the asset and 
projected disposal values. The Company has not made any material adjustments to the residual values in the current year.

In line with the requirements of IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment, it is Company policy that the useful life of the assets 
be reviewed annually. The Company has reviewed the useful lives of assets regularly and during this financial year the Com-
pany has continued using some of the fully depreciated assets. IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates 
and errors requires that a change in useful life be applied to the carrying amount which must then be depreciated over the 
new useful life. As the carrying amount of these assets is zero and the group’s policy is to account for PPE using the cost 
model, both the cost and accumulated depreciation remain in the fixed asset register until the Company discontinues the 
use of the assets and a decision to scrap them has been taken. At that time they will be derecognised from the fixed assets 
register. Directors will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will 
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. 
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21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

(vi) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

Below is a sensitivity analysis on the effect on depreciation charge in the event of an increase or decrease on the deprecia-
tion charge applied to the property, plant and equipment.

Current 
(100%)

(+20%) (-20%) (+40%) (-40%) (+60%) (-60%)

Plant 6,177,342 7,412,811 4,941,874 8,648,280 3,706,406 9,883,748 2,470,937

Buildings 153,360 184,033 122,689 214,705 92,017 245,378 61,344

Motor vehicles 169,025 202,831 135,221 236,636 101,415 270,441 67,610

Office furniture 108,453 130,414 86,762 151,834 65,072 173,525 43,381

Computer equip-
ment

102,629 123,155 82,103 143,681 61,577 164,206 41,052

Total 6,710,811 8,052,974 5,368,649 9,395,136 4,026,487 10,737,298 2,684,325

(vi) Interest rate benchmark reform

Following the financial crisis, the reform and replacement of benchmark interest rates such as USD LIBOR and other inter-
bank offered rates (‘IBORs’) has become a priority for global regulators. There is currently uncertainty around the timing 
and precise nature of these changes. To transition existing contracts and agreements that reference LIBOR to Secure Over-
night Financing Rate (“SOFR”), adjustments for term differences and credit differences might need to be applied to SOFR, 
to enable the two benchmark rates to be economically equivalent on transition. The Finance department is managing the 
Company’s USD LIBOR transition plan. The greatest change will be amendments to the contractual terms of the USD LI-
BOR-referenced floating-rate debt. However, the changed reference rate may also affect other systems, processes, risk and 
valuation models, as well as having tax and accounting implications.

Currently, management’s plan is to migrate LIBOR based borrowings to fixed rate, Rwanda Franc denominated borrowings. 
This is expected to be completed in the first half of financial year 2022.

22. Contingent liabilities 

The Company did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2021 (2020: Nil).

23. Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the statement of financial position date but not recognised in the financial statements 
is as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Capital commitments 792,168 854,593

79

Notes (continued)

21. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

(vi) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

Below is a sensitivity analysis on the effect on depreciation charge in the event of an increase or decrease on the deprecia-
tion charge applied to the property, plant and equipment.

Asset category 
Current 
(100%) (+20%) (-20%) (+40%) (-40%) (+60%) (-60%)

Plant 6,177,342 7,412,811 4,941,874 8,648,280 3,706,406 9,883,748 2,470,937

Buildings 153,360 184,033 122,689 214,705 92,017 245,378 61,344

Motor vehicles 169,025 202,831 135,221 236,636 101,415 270,441 67,610

Office furniture 108,453 130,414 86,762 151,834 65,072 173,525 43,381

Computer equip-
ment

102,629 123,155 82,103 143,681 61,577 164,206 41,052

Total 6,710,811 8,052,974 5,368,649 9,395,136 4,026,487 10,737,298 2,684,325

(vi) Interest rate benchmark reform

Following the financial crisis, the reform and replacement of benchmark interest rates such as USD LIBOR and other inter-
bank offered rates (‘IBORs’) has become a priority for global regulators. There is currently uncertainty around the timing 
and precise nature of these changes. To transition existing contracts and agreements that reference LIBOR to Secure Over-
night Financing Rate (“SOFR”), adjustments for term differences and credit differences might need to be applied to SOFR, 
to enable the two benchmark rates to be economically equivalent on transition. The Finance department is managing the 
Company’s USD LIBOR transition plan. The greatest change will be amendments to the contractual terms of the USD LI-
BOR-referenced floating-rate debt. However, the changed reference rate may also affect other systems, processes, risk and 
valuation models, as well as having tax and accounting implications.

Currently, management’s plan is to migrate LIBOR based borrowings to fixed rate, Rwanda Franc denominated borrowings. 
This is expected to be completed in the first half of financial year 2022.

22. Contingent liabilities 

The Company did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2021 (2020: Nil).

23. Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the statement of financial position date but not recognised in the financial statements 
is as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Capital commitments 792,168 854,593
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with IFRS

The financial statements of CIMERWA PLC have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(i) Compliance with IFRS

The financial statements of CIMERWA PLC have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

(ii) Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The financial statements. The financial statements 
are approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors. The directors reserve the right to amend or withdraw the 
financial statements.

iii) New and amended standards adopted by the Company

The Company has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the year commencing 1 October 
2020:

•	 Definition of Material – amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8
•	 Definition of a Business – amendments to IFRS 3
•	 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7
•	 Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The Company also elected to adopt the following amendments early:

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 Cycle

24.  Summary of significant accounting policies

 (b) Revenue recognition

The Company revenue is derived from the sale of cementitious products to the Company’s customers. Revenue is rec-
ognised when the performance obligation obligations are satisfied by transferring control of the promised product to the 
Company’s customers. Revenue is recognised net of indirect taxes, rebates and discounts provided to the customers. 

Revenue is recognised at the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to each performance obligation. For contracts 
that contain multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on 
the relative stand alone selling prices. Revenue recognised is based on the amount that depicts the consideration to which 
the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods and services promised to the customer.

All revenue from the sale of cementitious products is recognised at a point in time.
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies
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The Company revenue is derived from the sale of cementitious products to the Company’s customers. Revenue is rec-
ognised when the performance obligation obligations are satisfied by transferring control of the promised product to the 
Company’s customers. Revenue is recognised net of indirect taxes, rebates and discounts provided to the customers. 

Revenue is recognised at the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to each performance obligation. For contracts 
that contain multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on 
the relative stand alone selling prices. Revenue recognised is based on the amount that depicts the consideration to which 
the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods and services promised to the customer.

All revenue from the sale of cementitious products is recognised at a point in time.
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24.  Summary of significant accounting policies

(b) Revenue recognition (continued)

Sale of cementitious products

The Company manufactures and sells a range of cementitious products that include cement and  clinker. Revenue from the 
sale of cementitious goods is recognised when delivery has taken place and control of the goods has been transferred to 
the customer. The customer obtains control of the goods when the significant risks and rewards of products sold are trans-
ferred according to the specific delivery terms that have been formally agreed with the customer. This occurs upon delivery, 
when the bill of lading is signed by the customer as evidence that they have obtained physical possession and accepted 
the products delivered.

Cementitious products are often sold with retrospective volume rebates based on aggregate sales over a specified period. 
Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the selling price specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume re-
bates. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the rebates using the most likely amount method. In this 
regard, revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund liabil-
ity is recognised for expected volume rebates payable to customers in relation to sales made until the end of the reporting 
period. As part of the assessment of whether the estimated volume rebate should be constrained, it was noted that there 
were no significant reversals from the refund liability that were recognised in the current year. The directors will continue to 
reassess its ability to estimate the expected volume rebates reasonably.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered. This is the point in time that the consideration becomes uncondi-
tional as only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. No significant financing element is deemed present 
as the sales are made with credit terms largely ranging between 7 and 60 days which is consistent with market practice.

Generally, cementitious products are not returned as a customer will only accept these products once they have passed a 
stringent quality check at delivery. No warranty provision of right of return contract liabilities has therefore been recognised 
by the Company in this regard.
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24.  Summary of significant accounting policies

(b) Revenue recognition (continued)

Sale of cementitious products

The Company manufactures and sells a range of cementitious products that include cement and  clinker. Revenue from the 
sale of cementitious goods is recognised when delivery has taken place and control of the goods has been transferred to 
the customer. The customer obtains control of the goods when the significant risks and rewards of products sold are trans-
ferred according to the specific delivery terms that have been formally agreed with the customer. This occurs upon delivery, 
when the bill of lading is signed by the customer as evidence that they have obtained physical possession and accepted 
the products delivered.

Cementitious products are often sold with retrospective volume rebates based on aggregate sales over a specified period. 
Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the selling price specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume re-
bates. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the rebates using the most likely amount method. In this 
regard, revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund liabil-
ity is recognised for expected volume rebates payable to customers in relation to sales made until the end of the reporting 
period. As part of the assessment of whether the estimated volume rebate should be constrained, it was noted that there 
were no significant reversals from the refund liability that were recognised in the current year. The directors will continue to 
reassess its ability to estimate the expected volume rebates reasonably.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered. This is the point in time that the consideration becomes uncondi-
tional as only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. No significant financing element is deemed present 
as the sales are made with credit terms largely ranging between 7 and 60 days which is consistent with market practice.

Generally, cementitious products are not returned as a customer will only accept these products once they have passed a 
stringent quality check at delivery. No warranty provision of right of return contract liabilities has therefore been recognised 
by the Company in this regard.
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in Rwanda Francs (“Frw”) which is the Compa-
ny’s functional currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the Company using the exchange rates prevail-
ing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents 
are presented in the income statement within ‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are pre-
sented in profit or loss within ‘other income’ or ‘other expenses’.

d) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment (PPE) are initially recognized at cost and subsequently measured at cost less ac-
cumulated depreciation and impairments.The cost of self-constructed assets includes expenditures on materials, direct 
labour and an allocated portion of project overheads. Cost also includes the estimated cost of dismantling and removing 
the assets and site rehabilitation costs to the extent that they relate to the construction of the asset and are required by 
local legislation. 

The cost of PPE may also include the estimated costs of decommissioning the assets and site rehabilitation costs to the 
extent that they relate to the asset. Estimating the future costs of these obligations is complex as most of the obligations 
will only be fulfilled in the foreseeable future. 

Furthermore, the resulting provisions and assets are influenced by changing technologies and regulations, life of mine, po-
litical, environmental, safety, business and statutory considerations in the Country in which the Company operates.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 15 to 24 years

Motor vehicles 3 – 5 years

Computer equipment 2 – 3 years

Plant and machinery 2 - 24 years

Equipment and motor vehicles 4 - 8 years

Critical spares 5 years
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in Rwanda Francs (“Frw”) which is the Compa-
ny’s functional currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the Company using the exchange rates prevail-
ing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents 
are presented in the income statement within ‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are pre-
sented in profit or loss within ‘other income’ or ‘other expenses’.

d) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment (PPE) are initially recognized at cost and subsequently measured at cost less ac-
cumulated depreciation and impairments.The cost of self-constructed assets includes expenditures on materials, direct 
labour and an allocated portion of project overheads. Cost also includes the estimated cost of dismantling and removing 
the assets and site rehabilitation costs to the extent that they relate to the construction of the asset and are required by 
local legislation. 

The cost of PPE may also include the estimated costs of decommissioning the assets and site rehabilitation costs to the 
extent that they relate to the asset. Estimating the future costs of these obligations is complex as most of the obligations 
will only be fulfilled in the foreseeable future. 

Furthermore, the resulting provisions and assets are influenced by changing technologies and regulations, life of mine, po-
litical, environmental, safety, business and statutory considerations in the Country in which the Company operates.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 15 to 24 years

Motor vehicles 3 – 5 years

Computer equipment 2 – 3 years

Plant and machinery 2 - 24 years

Equipment and motor vehicles 4 - 8 years

Critical spares 5 years
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separate-
ly identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in 
profit or loss.

(e) Leases 

The Company’s accounting policy for leases is described in note 19 (iii).

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the weighted-average method 
less provision for impairment. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other 
direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity).  It excludes borrowing costs. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

(g) Financial instruments 

Accounting for financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Company’s statement of financial position when the Company be-
comes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, including transaction costs except for those classified as 
at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value, excluding transaction costs. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are rec-
ognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified as current if expected to be realised or settled within 12 months; if not, they are 
classified as non-current.

Offsetting financial instruments

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities arises when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The net amount 
is reported in the statement of financial position.

Financial instrument classification

The Company classifies its financial instruments into the following categories:
•	 Financial assets at amortised cost; and
•	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost.
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separate-
ly identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in 
profit or loss.

(e) Leases 

The Company’s accounting policy for leases is described in note 19 (iii).

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the weighted-average method 
less provision for impairment. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other 
direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity).  It excludes borrowing costs. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

(g) Financial instruments 

Accounting for financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Company’s statement of financial position when the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, including transaction costs except for those classified as 
at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value, excluding transaction costs. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are rec-
ognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified as current if expected to be realised or settled within 12 months; if not, they are 
classified as non-current.

Offsetting financial instruments

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities arises when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The net amount 
is reported in the statement of financial position.

Financial instrument classification

The Company classifies its financial instruments into the following categories:
•	 Financial assets at amortised cost; and
•	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost.
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25. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

The Company classifies its financial assets as at amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are met: 
•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows; and 
•	 the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 

The classification is dependent on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Directors determine the 
classification of financial instruments at initial recognition. Financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash 
and cash equivalents, borrowings and trade and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial instruments are measured as described below. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables, bank overdrafts, borrowings, and other non-current liabilities (ex-
cluding provisions).

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

De-recognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or have been transferred 
and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried 
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk. The Company’s trade and other receivables are subject to the expected credit loss model. While cash and cash equiv-
alents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss is immaterial. See note 20 
for further details.

h) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost; any differences between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in 
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest method.
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25. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

The Company classifies its financial assets as at amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are met: 
•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows; and 
•	 the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 

The classification is dependent on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Directors determine the 
classification of financial instruments at initial recognition. Financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash 
and cash equivalents, borrowings and trade and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial instruments are measured as described below. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables, bank overdrafts, borrowings, and other non-current liabilities (ex-
cluding provisions).

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

De-recognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or have been transferred 
and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried 
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk. The Company’s trade and other receivables are subject to the expected credit loss model. While cash and cash equiv-
alents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss is immaterial. See note 20 
for further details.

h) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost; any differences between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in 
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest method.
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

h) Borrowings (continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is prob-
able that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the 
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a 
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(i) Advance payments denominated in foreign currency for significant items of property, plant and equipment

Project advance payments denominated in foreign currency are initially recorded at the ruling exchange rate on the date of 
the payment. The advance payment is treated as a non-monetary asset as there is no expected repayment in units of cur-
rency and is thus not translated at each reporting date. On the portion of any invoice for property, plant and equipment that 
is offset by the advance payment, the amounts capitalized to property, plant and equipment are recorded at the historical 
carrying amount of the advance payment.

(j) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any premium received over and above the par value of the shares is 
classified as ‘share premium’ in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are shown 
in equity as deduction from the proceeds.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in cur-
rent liabilities on the statement of financial position.

(l) Employee benefits 

	 (i) Retirement benefit obligations 

The Company and all its employees contribute to the Rwanda Social Security Board, which is a defined contribution scheme.  

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The 
Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to 
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.   The Company’s contributions 
to the defined contribution scheme are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they fall due.  
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

h) Borrowings (continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is prob-
able that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the 
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a 
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(i) Advance payments denominated in foreign currency for significant items of property, plant and equipment

Project advance payments denominated in foreign currency are initially recorded at the ruling exchange rate on the date of 
the payment. The advance payment is treated as a non-monetary asset as there is no expected repayment in units of cur-
rency and is thus not translated at each reporting date. On the portion of any invoice for property, plant and equipment that 
is offset by the advance payment, the amounts capitalized to property, plant and equipment are recorded at the historical 
carrying amount of the advance payment.

(j) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any premium received over and above the par value of the shares is 
classified as ‘share premium’ in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are shown 
in equity as deduction from the proceeds.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in cur-
rent liabilities on the statement of financial position.

(l) Employee benefits 

(i) Retirement benefit obligations 

The Company and all its employees contribute to the Rwanda Social Security Board, which is a defined contribution scheme.  

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The 
Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to 
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.   The Company’s contributions 
to the defined contribution scheme are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they fall due.  
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Employee benefits (continued)

	 (ii) Other entitlements

The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued annual leave entitlement at the statement of financial position date 
is recognised as an expense accrual.

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration the 
profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments.  The Company recognises an accrual where 
contractually obliged or where there is past practice that has created a constructive obligation. The bonus is payable at the 
discretion of the Board.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal retirement date, or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Company recognises termination 
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to a termination when the entity has a detailed formal plan to terminate the 
employment of current employees without possibility of withdrawal. 

In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the num-
ber of employees expected to accept the offer. 

(m) Income tax expense

a) Current income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Current income tax is the amount of income 
tax payable on the taxable profit for the year determined in accordance with Rwanda tax legislation. The current income 
tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. 
Directors periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the 
tax authorities.

b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not accounted 
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the state-
ment of financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Employee benefits (continued)

	 (ii) Other entitlements

The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued annual leave entitlement at the statement of financial position date 
is recognised as an expense accrual.

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration the 
profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments.  The Company recognises an accrual where 
contractually obliged or where there is past practice that has created a constructive obligation. The bonus is payable at the 
discretion of the Board.

	 (iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal retirement date, or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Company recognises termination 
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to a termination when the entity has a detailed formal plan to terminate the 
employment of current employees without possibility of withdrawal. 

In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the num-
ber of employees expected to accept the offer. 

(m) Income tax expense

a) Current income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Current income tax is the amount of income 
tax payable on the taxable profit for the year determined in accordance with Rwanda tax legislation. The current income 
tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. 
Directors periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the 
tax authorities.

b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not accounted 
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the state-
ment of financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Impairment of assets

Non financial assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and val-
ue in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-gen-
erating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.

(s) Segment reporting

The chief operating decision maker, who is the Company’s executive committee as it is the body that examines the Com-
pany’s performance and allocates resources. The committee has identified the Company as one segment. Therefore, assets 
and liabilities are deemed to contribute to the overall performance of the Company and separate presentation of balance 
sheet has not been made.

The committee primarily uses earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) to assess the perfor-
mance of the segment. The Company has one reportable segment whose revenue is presented in note 1.

No individual customer comprises more than 10% of the Company’s revenue. Revenue from external customers from ex-
ports was Frw 12,943 million (2020: Frw 9,291 million).

EBITDA reconciles to operating profit before income tax as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Total EBITDA 18,447,502 16,123,510

Finance costs (6,092,661) (6,196,481)

Depreciation and amortisation (7,036,707)  (7,930,336)

Impairment of financial assets 91,480  (60,473)

Profit before income tax 5,401,370 1,936,220

Income tax credit/ (expense) (1,281,230) 15,520

Profit for the year 4,120,140 1,951,740

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Non-current assets 78,329,928 82,068,525

Current assets 31,239,617 30,183,971

Total assets 109,569,545 112,252,496

Non-current liabilities 91,480  (60,473)

Current liabilities 5,401,370 1,936,220

 Total liabilities 47,870,065 54,673,156

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Additions to non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 3,250,301 2,923,380 

Intangible assets (Note 8 (b)) 141,112 30,513 

Exploration and evaluation asset (Note 8(a)) - 404,561 

2,559,051 3,358,454
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24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Impairment of assets

Non financial assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and val-
ue in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-gen-
erating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.

(s) Segment reporting

The chief operating decision maker, who is the Company’s executive committee as it is the body that examines the Com-
pany’s performance and allocates resources. The committee has identified the Company as one segment. Therefore, assets 
and liabilities are deemed to contribute to the overall performance of the Company and separate presentation of balance 
sheet has not been made.

The committee primarily uses earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) to assess the perfor-
mance of the segment. The Company has one reportable segment whose revenue is presented in note 1.

No individual customer comprises more than 10% of the Company’s revenue. Revenue from external customers from ex-
ports was Frw 12,943 million (2020: Frw 9,291 million).

EBITDA reconciles to operating profit before income tax as follows:

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Total EBITDA 18,447,502 16,123,510

Finance costs (6,092,661) (6,196,481)

Depreciation and amortisation (7,036,707)  (7,930,336)

Impairment of financial assets 91,480  (60,473)

Profit before income tax 5,401,370 1,936,220

Income tax credit/ (expense) (1,281,230) 15,520

Profit for the year 4,120,140 1,951,740

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Non-current assets 78,329,928 82,068,525

Current assets 31,239,617 30,183,971

Total assets 109,569,545 112,252,496

Non-current liabilities 91,480  (60,473)

Current liabilities 5,401,370 1,936,220

 Total liabilities 47,870,065 54,673,156

2021
Frw’000

2020
Frw’000

Additions to non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 3,250,301 2,923,380 

Intangible assets (Note 8 (b)) 141,112 30,513 

Exploration and evaluation asset (Note 8(a)) - 404,561 

2,559,051 3,358,454
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OVER THIS PAST FINANCIAL YEAR CIMERWA PLC’S CSI WAS MAINLY FOCUSED ON STRENGTHENING EXISTING INITIATIVES AND SUPPORTING 
COMMUNITIES THROUGH COVID-19 AND SOME OF THE ISSUES IT BROUGHT WITH IT. THE COMPANY’S EFFORTS WERE CONCENTRATED TOWARDS 

STRENGTHENING 7 KEY AREAS; HEALTH, EDUCATION, CAPACITY BUILDING, TRADE, ACCESSIBILITY, LIVES & SPORTS.

OUR CSI AGENDA OVERVIEW
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Strengthening Education – L’educateur School. 

CIMERWA Plc’s Nursery & Primary School – l’educateur continues to thrive, established in 2003 to 
cater to children of CIMERWA’s employees and the community around the plant, the school now hosts 
over 765 students from the region surrounding the plant.  Parents pay a subsidized tuition fee at the 
school and children benefit from top-notch education since the school is ranked 1st on the District 

level.
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Strengthening Health – CIMERWA Clinic & Handwashing Stations. 

Clinics and handwashing stations have been in high demand over the past two years, they have 
helped communities across the world join the collective fight against the COVID-19 pandemic. With 

the same in mind, CIMERWA built eleven handwashing stations in strategic high-frequency areas such 
as markets & bus parks. In addition to this, the CIMERWA clinic provides COVID-19 testing facilities to 
employees and the surrounding community. Established at the plant premises in 1984. It comprises a 

pharmacy, a 14-bed facility, and a laboratory manned by trained staff.
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Strengthening Trade – Bugarama Market. 

Built by CIMERWA Plc, the Bugarama market was established to support traders in the area especially 
women who had no proper market in which to trade their wares. This market built on CIMERWA land 

currently houses over 60 traders who also benefit from free electricity and water on the premises 
courtesy of CIMERWA Plc.
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Strengthening Capacity – Tailoring Project. 

The TTCM tailoring cooperative had just over 20 members in 2015 who were struggling since they had 
no working premises, equipment and close to no professional training. Over 5 years later, the contrast 
is striking, with the support of CIMERWA Plc the tailors now have a house to operate in fully equipped 

with water and electricity, professional sewing machines, they benefitted from a tailoring workshop 
that has upgraded their skills and they now manufacture the entirety of CIMERWA Plc’s overalls and 

plant uniforms. The cooperative has now grown to include 42 members
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Strengthening Lives – Water Treatment Plant. 

CIMERWA Plc’s Water Treatment Plant helps the community in Bugarama access clean water at no 
cost. The water treatment plant, which has a capacity of 2,60 m3 per day, supplies clean water to 
more than 3,500 families in the Bugarama villages through company-owned pipelines. This is a 

considerable contribution to sanitation and health in the area.
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Strengthening Accessibility – Bugarama Road Project. 

Every quarter, CIMERWA Plc invests in maintaining local roads connecting several sectors such as the 
Mashyuza and Nyakabuye sectors as well as the Muganza and Gitambi sectors. This maintenance drive 
has made the roads more accessible for bicycles and bikes which are used mainly for the commercial 

transport of passengers, not to mention cars transporting cargo and regular pedestrians.
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Strengthening Sports – Espoir FC. 

No town is fully complete without a sports team to rally after, Espoir FC is that team for Rusizi District 
and It has donned the CIMERWA colors since 2015. The team finished its latest season on a high note 
ranking 4th in the first division of the National League. Espoir FC is a beacon of hope for sports fans 

and aspiring athletes in the region.



103

Notes (continued)

24. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Income tax expense (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle 
the balances on a net basis.

(n) Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which they are declared.  Proposed dividends are shown 
as a separate component of equity until declared.

(o) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to 
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(p) Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially recognised at cost if acquired separately or internally generated or at fair value 
if acquired as part of a business combination. If assessed as having an indefinite useful life, it is not amortised but tested 
for impairment annually and impaired if necessary. If assessed as having a finite useful life, it is amortised over its useful life 
using a straight-line basis and tested for impairment if there is an indication that it may be impaired. Also included in the 
cost of exploration and evaluation assets are the estimated costs of decommissioning the assets and site rehabilitation costs 
to the extent that they relate to the asset. 

The useful life of the asset with a finite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the finite life assessment continues to 
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment is made prospectively. 

(q) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not rec-
ognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The 
increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT 

This report contains certain forward-looking views that are not historical facts and relate to other information which is 
based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. By their nature, forward looking state-
ments involve uncertainties and the risk that these forward-looking statements will not be achieved. Although CIMERWA 
Plc believes the expectations reflected in these statements are reasonable, no assurance can be given that these expecta-
tions will prove correct. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions 
prove incorrect, outcomes could differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking statements as a result of, among 
other factors, changes in economic and market conditions, success of business and operating initiatives, changes in the 
regulatory environment, other government action and business and operational risks.

Forward looking statements apply only as at the date on which they are made. CIMERWA Plc does not undertake to update 
or revise them, whether arising from new information, future events or otherwise. While CIMERWA Plc takes reasonable 
care to ensure the accuracy of information presented, it accepts no responsibility for any damages – be they consequential, 
indirect, special or incidental, whether foreseeable or unforeseeable – based on claims arising out of misrepresentation or 
negligence in connection with a forward-looking statement. This report is not intended to contain any profit forecasts or 
profit estimates.




